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Tenn. Code Ann. § 16-18-309 

Current through the 2024 Regular Session. 
 

TN - Tennessee Code Annotated  >  Title 16 Courts  >  Chapter 18 Municipal Courts — Judges  >  

Part 3 Municipal Court Reform Act 

 

16-18-309. Training and continuing education.  
 
 

(a)   

(1)  Except as otherwise provided in subdivision (a)(4), each calendar year, the judge of each municipal 

court must attend at least three (3) hours of training or continuing education courses provided by, 

through or with approval of the administrative office of the courts (AOC) and must certify attendance to 

the administrative director. The three (3) hours of training or continuing education required by this 

subsection (a) shall consist of material specifically designed for municipal court judges and for training 

the judges concerning the issues, procedures and new developments relevant to the judges. General 

legal training or continuing legal education shall not be sufficient to satisfy the requirement. If a 

municipal court judge fails to timely comply with such requirements, then the judge shall be extended a 

six (6) month grace period in order to achieve compliance; provided, however, that training obtained to 

satisfy requirements for the preceding calendar year shall not also be used to satisfy requirements for 

the current calendar year. The failure of the judge to achieve compliance prior to conclusion of the six 

(6) month grace period shall render all subsequent judgments of the judge null and void and of no 

effect, until such time as the requirements are met. The training and continuing education courses may 

be offered by the AOC in conjunction with the annual meeting of the Tennessee municipal judges’ 

conference held in accordance with § 17-3-301(c). 

(2)  Each municipal judge shall be compensated and reimbursed for attending required training or 

continuing education in accordance with the travel policy of the municipality. 

(3)  If a municipal court judge attends more than three (3) hours of qualifying training or continuing 

education in a calendar year, the hours in excess of three (3) hours may be carried over for one (1) 

calendar year. 

(4)  If the judge of a municipal court is authorized to practice law in the courts of this state, and if the 

judge satisfies the annual continuing legal education requirements for practicing attorneys and three (3) 

of the hours completed in satisfying the continuing legal education requirements are training or 

continuing education courses required by subdivision (a)(1), then the judge shall not be required to 

complete three (3) additional hours of training or continuing education courses required by subdivision 

(a)(1). By March 1 following the year for which the requirements are met, the judge shall submit to the 

administrative office of the courts a copy of the statement of compliance issued by the commission on 

continuing legal education verifying the number of continuing legal education hours completed for such 

year. 

(b)   

(1)  Each calendar year, the clerk of each municipal court must attend at least three (3) hours of 

training or continuing education courses provided by, through or with approval of the AOC and must 

certify attendance to the administrative director; provided, however, that such attendance requirements 

do not apply to any municipal clerk who is required to be certified pursuant to § 6-54-120. 

(2)  Each municipal court clerk shall be compensated and reimbursed for attending required training 

and continuing education in accordance with the travel policy of the municipality. 



History 
 
 

                                     

Acts 2004, ch. 914, § 2; 2006, ch. 1004, §§ 3, 4; 2009, ch. 505, §§ 2, 3.                                  

Annotations 

Notes 
                                   

                                           

Compiler's Notes.  

                                                                                        

Former part 3, § 16-18-301 (Acts 1999, ch. 149, § 1), concerning administration of oaths by municipal court judges, 

was repealed and replaced by Acts 2004, ch. 914, § 2, effective March 1, 2005. 

                                                                                                                                  

Acts 2004, ch. 914, § 8(b) provided that, notwithstanding any provision of former § 16-17-101(c), or any other law to 

the contrary, from May 12, 2003, through March 1, 2005, concurrent general sessions jurisdiction shall not be newly 

conferred upon any existing or newly created municipal court. 

                                                                                  

Opinion Notes 
                                           

Attorney General Opinions. 

                                                                                        

Constitutionality of education requirement for city judges under T.C.A.§ 16-18-309(a)(1),                                                    

OAG 05-127, 2005 Tenn. AG LEXIS 129 (8/22/05)                                                . 
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Leighton v. Henderson 

Supreme Court of Tennessee, At Nashville 

April 7, 1967, Opinion Filed  

No Number in Original 

Reporter 
220 Tenn. 91 *; 414 S.W.2d 419 **; 1967 Tenn. LEXIS 392 *** 

Ira Leighton v. C. Murray Henderson, Warden, etc. 

Prior History:  [***1]  FROM LAWRENCE  

Disposition: Judgment reversed and cause remanded for further proceedings.   

Core Terms 
 

trial judge, incompetent, corpus, habeas petition, bail, habeas corpus, lawsuit, recuse 

Case Summary 
  

Procedural Posture 
Respondent warden challenged a judgment of the Circuit Court of Lawrence County (Tennessee), which sustained 

petitioner inmate's petition for habeas corpus and released him from prison on bail pending appeal. On appeal, the 

warden argued that the trial judge erred in hearing the case and should have recused himself. 

Overview 
Prior to the hearing of the inmate's habeas corpus petition, the trial judge had written the Tennessee Board of Pardons 

and Parole recommending that inmate's sentence be commuted to time served so as to make him eligible for 

immediate parole. The warden claimed that it was error for the trial judge to try the inmate's petition because he had 

expressed himself as to what he would do with the case regardless of what the proof was. The trial judge did not 

recuse himself and sustained the inmate's petition for habeas corpus. The court held that what the trial judge said 

clearly indicated that he had already decided the matters involved. When he found that he could have to recuse 

himself, he should have communicated that fact to the Chief Justice of the Supreme Court of Tennessee, who, under 

Tenn. Code ann. §§ 17-215, 17-216 and 17-323, could appoint a special judge to hear the petition. If the trial judge 

could not recuse himself and had not communicated the fact to the Chief Justice, under Tenn. Code Ann. § 17-221 

et seq., he could certify his disability to the governor. The trial judge erred in not taking advantage of any of those 

opportunities and hearing the trial. 

Outcome 
The court reversed the cause and remanded it for a new trial before a competent judge because it had to be originally 

tried before a trial judge who had not expressed himself one way or the other and was not interested one way or the 

other in the outcome of the trial. The court revoked the order granting bail and remanded defendant to the custody of 

the warden, who confine him in the State penitentiary pending further proceedings. 
 

 
 

 

 



LexisNexis® Headnotes 
 

Civil Procedure > Judicial Officers > Judges > General Overview 

Criminal Law & Procedure > Trials > Bench Trials 

Criminal Law & Procedure > Trials > Judicial Discretion 

HN1[ ]  Judicial Officers, Judges 

In the trial of any lawsuit the judge must be careful not to give an expression to any thought, or to infer what his 

opinion would be in favor or against either of the parties in the trial. The judge must be patient, yet firm, and not allow 

his personal feelings to enter into the trial of any lawsuit. 

 

Civil Procedure > Judicial Officers > Judges > General Overview 

Criminal Law & Procedure > Trials > Judicial Discretion 

Governments > Courts > Judges 

Criminal Law & Procedure > Trials > Bench Trials 

HN2[ ]  Judicial Officers, Judges 

Neither the Tennessee Constitution nor the statutory provision covers in terms the case of a judge who has already 

decided the controversy before he has heard it. However, such a case falls within the meaning of both, that is, of the 

provision in each that no judge shall preside in any case in which he may have been of counsel, or in which he may 

have presided in any inferior court. The purpose of these two provisions is to guard against prejudgment of the 

controversy. It is necessarily supposed, as the basis of these provisions, that where a judge has been of counsel, he 

has already made up his mind as to the merits of the case, equally where he has presided in the trial of the case in 

the inferior court, and has decided it, or has taken part in the decision of it. Parties litigant are entitled to an impartial 

judge. But it is of immense importance, not only that justice shall be administered to men, but that they shall have no 

sound reason for supposing that it is not administered. It is a fundamental principle that the judge shall be impartial. 

It is not according to due course of law to compel a man over his protest to try his case before a judge who has 

already decided it, and has announced that decision in advance of the hearing. Such compulsion is a denial of justice. 

 

Civil Procedure > ... > Inability to Proceed > Disqualification & Recusal > General Overview 

Civil Rights Law > Protection of Rights > Prisoner Rights > Transfers 

Governments > Courts > Special Judges 

Civil Procedure > Judicial Officers > Judges > General Overview 

Criminal Law & Procedure > Preliminary Proceedings > Pretrial Motions & Procedures > Disqualification & 

Recusal 

Criminal Law & Procedure > Habeas Corpus > Procedure > General Overview 

HN3[ ]  Inability to Proceed, Disqualification & Recusal 

The Supreme Court of Tennessee by Tenn. Code Ann. § 23-1840, has the authority when matters are brought to the 



attention of the Chief Justice to transfer habeas corpus cases back to the court where they were originally tried and 

to create venue there rather than in the county in which the prisoner is situated. It happens that the trial judge to 

whom the case has been transferred finds that he should recuse himself, because he is accused of one thing and 

another by the prisoner in his petition for habeas corpus. Thus it is that it very frequently happens that the trial judge 

communicates this fact to the Chief Justice who in turn, under Tenn. Code ann. §§ 17-215, 17-216 and 17-323, 

appoints a special judge to hear the habeas corpus petition. If the judge cannot recuse himself and has not 

communicated the fact to the Chief Justice, under Tenn. Code Ann. § 17-221 et seq., he can certify his disability to 

the governor. 

 

Civil Procedure > ... > Jury Trials > Jury Instructions > General Overview 

Constitutional Law > ... > Fundamental Rights > Criminal Process > Right to Jury Trial 

Criminal Law & Procedure > Trials > Judicial Discretion 

HN4[ ]  Jury Trials, Jury Instructions 

In the trial of any lawsuit it is presupposed that a competent judge will preside and have charge of the case in which 

he passes on questions of pleading, evidence and procedure, and gives instructions to the jury or determines the 

lawsuit without the intervention of a jury. The purpose of Tenn. Const. art. 6, § 11 is to insure every litigant the cold 

neutrality of an impartial court. 

 

Civil Procedure > Judicial Officers > Judges > General Overview 

Civil Procedure > ... > Jurisdiction > Jurisdictional Sources > General Overview 

Civil Procedure > ... > Jurisdiction > Subject Matter Jurisdiction > General Overview 

Civil Procedure > ... > Subject Matter Jurisdiction > Jurisdiction Over Actions > General Overview 

Civil Procedure > ... > Standards of Review > Harmless & Invited Errors > General Overview 

Civil Procedure > ... > Standards of Review > Harmless & Invited Errors > Harmless Error Rule 

Criminal Law & Procedure > Trials > Judicial Discretion 

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Standards of Review > Harmless & Invited Error > General Overview 

HN5[ ]  Judicial Officers, Judges 

It is provided in the harmless error statute, Tenn. Code Ann. § 27-117, that the appellate courts of Tennessee shall 

not reverse on any of the grounds stated, unless it shall affirmatively appear that the error complained of has effected 

the results of the trial. Whose error? Manifestly the error of a competent judge in charge of the case in the court 

below. To apply this statute to a case where the judge is incompetent, and his incompetency not only not waived, but 

openly objected to, would be not only to deprive the litigant of his right to his trial in a court of first instance, but would 

require the appellate court to exercise original jurisdiction, since there is no doubt that under such circumstances the 

judgment of the court below is simply void. 

 

Civil Procedure > Judicial Officers > Judges > General Overview 

Criminal Law & Procedure > Trials > Defendant's Rights > Right to Due Process 



HN6[ ]  Judicial Officers, Judges 

A court is not lawfully constituted, as to the special case, if the judge is incompetent to try it, and his incompetency is 

objected to at the time. As to that case it is the same as no court if the judge be incompetent. It is not only the right 

of a party under the distribution of judiciary powers directed by the Tennessee Constitution, and ascertained and 

formulated by legislative acts, to have his case first tried in the lower court; but it is important that he should have the 

benefit of those proceedings, not only for the aid they may furnish on a subsequent trial in a supreme court, or the 

court of civil appeals, but also because of the possibility of a termination of the controversy in that court without the 

expense and delay of a trial in an appellate court. A denial of such preliminary trial is a deprivation of the right 

guaranteed to every citizen to have his case tried according to due course of law and is a violation of Tenn. Const. art. 

1, § 17. 

 

Civil Procedure > Judicial Officers > Judges > General Overview 

Evidence > ... > Testimony > Competency > Judges 

HN7[ ]  Judicial Officers, Judges 

Tenn. Code Ann. § 24-107 provides that the trial judge who tried a defendant is a competent witness subject to all 

rules of cross-examination and otherwise as any other witness. 

Counsel: Lloyd Comer, Lawrenceburg, for petitioner, Leighton.  

William A. Harwell, District Attorney General, Columbia, and Joe W. Henry, Jr., Pulaski, for C. Murray Henderson, 

Warden.   

Judges: Mr. Chief Justice Burnett delivered the opinion of the Court.   

Opinion by: BURNETT  

Opinion 
 
 

 [*92]   [**419]  Leighton filed his petition for habeas corpus in the early part of January, 1966, in the Criminal Court 

of Davidson County, Tennessee, and the same was transferred  [*93]  to the Circuit Court at Lawrence County 

pursuant to statute, T.C.A. sec. 23-1840.  

The case subsequent to that time through various motions has been twice before this Court.  In an opinion of Leighton 

v. Henderson, 219 Tenn. 108, 407 S.W.2d 177, we held that after habeas corpus had been granted, and pending its appeal 

to this Court, the prisoner would be allowed bail.  

Prior to the hearing of this petition in Lawrence County, the trial judge made certain statements, and as a result of 

which the Warden moved that the trial judge recuse himself and ask another trial judge to sit for him because of his 

incompetency or that he certify [***2]  his incompetency to the  [**420]  Governor.  The basis of his motion was that 

some two years before this petition was filed the trial judge had written the State Board of Pardons and Parole advising 

them in part, 'I personally feel that he has served sufficient time in the penitentiary and I unhesitatingly recommend 

that his sentence be commuted to time served so as to make him eligible for immediate parole."  

When the question came up as to when this petition for habeas corpus should be heard in a colloquy between counsel 

on the various sides and the court, the court among other things said, "I don't care what proof is in the record, if the 

Governor doesn't pardon this man, I am going to grant the petition, set the trial for June 2nd." Then there follows 

various and sundry statements between counsel and the court, and the court finally set the case -- not on June 2nd 

but on a later date -- because he was convinced at that time that bail could be granted pending the hearing on the 

habeas corpus. This rule  [*94]  was later corrected by this Court in an order holding that pending the hearing of a 



habeas corpus bail was not allowable.  Leighton then, after having been let out [***3]  on bail, pending the hearing 

on the habeas corpus, was picked up pursuant to our ruling and put back in prison until the case was heard on his 

petition for habeas corpus. The trial judge then in a lengthy finding of facts, found in the record, sustained Leighton's 

petition for habeas corpus, released him from prison on bail pending the appeal to this Court.  Among other things in 

the memorandum opinion the trial judge said this:  
"That the general feeling of the Court, the Special Prosecutor and the Attorney-Generals Office was one of 

vindictiveness toward the petitioner who stood accused of the murder of their friend, to the extent that their entire 

motivation was to the conviction of the petitioner as quickly as possible." 

Thus it is, in view of these things the Warden now insists that it was error for the trial judge to try this case because 

he had before the trial thereof on occasions, hereinabove referred to, expressed himself as to what he would do with 

the case regardless of what the proof was.  Counsel for Henderson still insist, in one of their assignments of error, 

that the trial judge erred in hearing this case and should have recused himself.  We now take up [***4]  this proposition 

only because we feel that this error should be sustained, and that it was error in view of the statements above quoted 

for the trial judge to pass upon the question wherein Leighton is a party on one side and Henderson, Warden of the 

State penitentiary, is the party on the other side.  HN1[ ] In the trial of any lawsuit the judge must be careful not to 

give an expression to any thought, or to infer what his opinion would  [*95]  be in favor or against either of the parties 

in the trial.  The judge, of course, must be patient, yet firm, and not allow his personal feelings to enter into the trial 

of any lawsuit.  

This Court set forth the law as to the trial judge sitting on a case, when he has expressed an opinion, in very clear 

and succinct language in In re Cameron, 126 Tenn. 614, 151 S.W. 64. We can and should decide this lawsuit on what 

this Court said in In re Cameron, supra. What the trial court said in the instant case clearly indicates that the judge had 

already decided the matters involved.  This Court said In re Cameron:  

HN2[ ] "Neither the Constitution nor the statutory provision covers in terms the case of a judge who has already 

decided the controversy [***5]  before he has heard it.  We are of the opinion, however, that such a case falls 

within the meaning of both; that is, of the provision in each that no judge shall preside in any case in which he 

may have been of counsel, or in which he may have presided in any inferior court.  The purpose of these two 

provisions was to guard against prejudgment of the controversy.  It was necessarily supposed, as the basis of 

these provisions, that where a judge had been of counsel, he had already made up his mind as to the merits of 

the case; equally  [**421]  where he had presided in the trial of the case in the inferior court, and had decided it, 

or had taken part in the decision of it." [Pages 657, 658, 126 Tenn., p. 76 of 151 S.W.] 

Before making this statement the Court had quoted what is now our statute, T.C.A. sec. 17-201.  The Court then went 

on to say:  

 [*96]  "* * * The fundamental principle is that parties litigant are entitled to an impartial judge. * * * But it is of 

immense importance, not only that justice shall be administered to men, but that they shall have no sound reason 

for supposing that it is not administered. * * * We say it is a fundamental principle that [***6]  the judge shall be 

impartial. * * *  
"Beyond question it is not according to due course of law to compel a man over his protest to try his case before 

a judge who has already decided it, and has announced that decision in advance of the hearing.  It is equally 

true that such compulsion is a denial of justice. * * *  
"* * * It would have been far safer, however, and more in accordance with the proprieties of the situation, after 

having formulated the charges (in the form of charges and not of decision), to have interchanged with some other 

judge to try the case, in view of the personal feeling which he entertained by reason of the gross discourtesy to 

which he had been subjected by counsel in the matters leading up to the present controversy.  He did not, 

however, do this, nor was he bound to do so; but he was bound not to decide the case in advance, either orally 

or by a decision put upon the record, as shown by his language copied into this opinion.  Having so decided the 

matter, he immediately became incompetent to try it." 

HN3[ ] This Court by statute hereinbefore referred to (T.C.A. sec. 23-1840), has the authority when matters are 

brought to the attention of the Chief Justice [***7]  to transfer these habeas corpus cases back to the court where 

they were originally tried and to create venue there  [*97]  rather than in the county in which the prisoner is situated.  



The purpose of passing this venue statute is obvious because in the county where the man was originally tried the 

officers and witnesses are there and all things of that kind.  Of course, frequently since this Act was passed it happens 

that the trial judge to whom the case has been transferred finds that he should recuse himself, because he is accused 

of one thing and another by the prisoner in his petition for habeas corpus. Thus it is that it very frequently happens 

that the trial judge communicates this fact to the Chief Justice who in turn, under T.C.A. sec. 17-215, sec. 17-216 and 

sec. 17-323, appoints a special judge to hear the habeas corpus petition. Of course, throughout the history of this 

State different judges of adjoining districts have interchanged with each other, one trying a case for the other when 

he thought he was incompetent for different reasons, but has thus recused himself and got his brother in an adjoining 

circuit to sit for him.  Likewise, if he can't do this and hasn't [***8]  communicated the fact to the Chief Justice, under 

T.C.A. sec. 17-221 et seq., he can certify his disability to the Governor.  The trial judge in the instant case, after 

expressing himself as he did here and after having the motion of the State for him to recuse himself, did not take 

advantage of any of these opportunities but went on and heard this trial.  In doing so it is the unanimous opinion of 

this Court that he erred, and it is for this reason, and this alone, that this case must be reversed and remanded.  

HN4[ ] In the trial of any lawsuit it is presupposed that a competent judge will preside and have charge of the case 

in which he passes on questions of pleading, evidence and procedure, and gives instructions to the jury or determines 

the lawsuit without the intervention of a  [*98]  jury.  The purpose of Article 6, sec. 11 of our Constitution is to insure 

every litigant the cold neutrality of an impartial court.  

 [**422]  We now revert again to In re Cameron, at page 662, 151 S.W. 77 where it was said:  

"* * * HN5[ ] It is provided in the statute referred to that the appellate courts of this state shall not reverse on 

any of the grounds stated, unless it shall affirmatively [***9]  appear that the error complained of has effected the 

results of the trial.  Whose error?  Manifestly the error of a competent judge in charge of the case in the court 

below.  To apply this statute to a case where the judge is incompetent, and his incompetency not only not waived, 

but openly objected to, would be not only to deprive the litigant of his right to his trial in a court of first instance, 

but would require this court to exercise original jurisdiction, since there is no doubt that under such circumstances 

the judgment of the court below is simply void" (Citing authorities.) 

The statute referred to in this instance is the harmless error statute, T.C.A. sec. 27-117.  

Then again in In re Cameron, at pages 665, 151 S.W. at page 78, the following statement is made which is applicable 

here.  

"* * * HN6[ ] A court is not lawfully constituted, as to the special case, if the judge is incompetent to try it, and 

his incompetency is objected to at the time.  As to that case it is the same as no court if the judge be incompetent. 

It is not only the right of a party under the distribution of judiciary powers directed by the Constitution, and 

ascertained and formulated by legislative [***10]  acts, to have his case first tried in the lower court; but  [*99]  it 

is important that he should have the benefit of those proceedings, not only for the aid they may furnish on a 

subsequent trial in this court, or the court of civil appeals, but also because of the possibility of a termination of 

the controversy in that court without the expense and delay of a trial in an appellate court.  A denial of such 

preliminary trial is a deprivation of the right guaranteed to every citizen to have his case tried according to due 

course of law and is a violation of article 1, sec. 17, of the Constitution, supra." 

It certainly seems possible and probable from this record that the trial judge herein, the one who tried Leighton in 

beginning in 1943, may be a witness on his behalf when this case is tried before a competent trial judge.  T.C.A. sec. 

24-107 HN7[ ] provides that such a person is a competent witness subject to all rules of cross-examination and 

otherwise as any other witness.  

For the reasons herein stated this cause is reversed and remanded for a new trial before a competent judge as it 

must be originally tried before a trial judge who has not expressed himself one way or the [***11]  other, and is not 

interested one way or the other in the outcome of the trial.  This case must be first heard and passed on by such trial 

judge before an appellate court has the right to pass on the questions presented.  

Until this petition for habeas corpus is passed on by a competent judge it is necessary that the order granting bail 

herein should be revoked and that Leighton should be remanded to the custody of the Warden who will forthwith 



cause him to be confined in the State penitentiary pending further proceedings in this habeas corpus petition.  

 [*100]  The Court at the present time through the Chief Justice appoints the Honorable J. Fred Bibb, retired Criminal 

Judge of Knox County, to hear this petition for habeas corpus which can be set in the early days of June.  The Chief 

Justice will write to the Honorable J. Fred Bibb a letter designating him to try this case and counsel for respective 

parties will communicate with Judge Bibb in reference to setting a trial date which could be set, as the Court 

understands it from communication with Judge Bibb, the first two or three days in June prior to the meeting of the 

State Bar Association.  

For reasons above stated the judgment [***12]  herein is reversed and the cause remanded for further proceedings.   

 

 

 

  



Tenn. Code Ann. § 39-16-703 

Current through the 2024 Regular Session. 
 

TN - Tennessee Code Annotated  >  Title 39 Criminal Offenses  >  Chapter 16 Offenses Against 

Administration of Government  >  Part 7 Perjury 

 

39-16-703. Aggravated perjury.  
 
 

(a)  A person commits an offense who, with intent to deceive: 

(1)  Commits perjury as defined in § 39-16-702; 

(2)  The false statement is made during or in connection with an official proceeding; and 

(3)  The false statement is material. 

(b)  It is no defense that the person mistakenly believed the statement to be immaterial. 

(c)  Aggravated perjury is a Class D felony. 

History 
 
 

                                     

Acts 1989, ch. 591, § 1.                                  

Annotations 

Notes 
 

Compiler's Notes.  

                                                                                     

The sentencing commission terminated June 30, 1995. Sentencing Commission Comments have been retained, but 

do not reflect 1995 or subsequent legislation. 

Commentary 
 

Sentencing Commission Comments.  

                                                                                                                                        

This section enhances the penalty for perjury where the false statement is made in an official proceeding.                                                   

Case Notes 
 
 

 1. Materiality of Statement. 

 2. Evidence. 

NOTES TO DECISIONS 

                                        



                                                                                     

 1. Materiality of Statement. 

                                           

The state sufficiently established the materiality of the conflicting statements given by the defendant under oath before 

trial and at trial regarding the identity of the perpetrator of a burglary where the state had no other evidence regarding 

the identity of the perpetrator.                                                       State v. Cutshaw, 967 S.W.2d 332, 1997 Tenn. Crim. 

App. LEXIS 1237 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1997)                                                   . 

                                                                                        

 2. Evidence. 

                                           

Proof that defendant told a “half-truth” was not legally sufficient to support a conviction for making a false 

representation of fact.                                                       State v. Forbes, 918 S.W.2d 431, 1995 Tenn. Crim. App. 

LEXIS 996 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1995)                                                   . 

                                                                                                                                           

Because under T.C.A. § 39-16-707 the prosecutor was not required to prove which of the two statements made by 

defendant during his prior murder trial was false, the state was relieved of any election requirement, and no enhanced 

unanimity instruction was warranted; therefore, the appellate court erred by reversing defendant's perjury conviction.                                                       

State v. Buford, 216 S.W.3d 323, 2007 Tenn. LEXIS 315 (Tenn. 2007)                                                   . 

                                                                                        

Research References & Practice Aids 
 

Cross-References.  

                                                                                        

Penalty for Class D felony, § 40-35-111. 
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State v. Reid 

Supreme Court of Tennessee, At Nashville 

October 6, 2006, Session ; December 27, 2006, Filed  

No. M2003-00539-SC-DDT-DD  
 

Reporter 
213 S.W.3d 792 *; 2006 Tenn. LEXIS 1203 ** 

STATE OF TENNESSEE v. PAUL DENNIS REID, JR. 

Subsequent History: Rehearing denied by State v. Reid, 2007 Tenn. LEXIS 17 (Tenn., Jan. 17, 2007) 

Motion granted by Reid v. Tennessee, 127 S. Ct. 2966, 168 L. Ed. 2d 260, 2007 U.S. LEXIS 7519 (U.S., 2007) 

US Supreme Court certiorari denied by Reid v. Tenn., 2007 U.S. LEXIS 11530 (U.S., Oct. 15, 2007) 

Prior History:  [**1]  Tenn. Code Ann. § 39-13-206(a)(1); Judgment of the Court of Criminal Appeals Affirmed. 

Automatic Appeal from the Court of Criminal Appeals Criminal Court for Davidson County. No. 97-C-1836. 

Cheryl Blackburn, Judge.   

 
State v. Reid, 2005 Tenn. Crim. App. LEXIS 556 (Tenn. Crim. App., June 3, 2005) 

Core Terms 
 

trial court, photograph, murders, aggravating circumstances, contends, convictions, entitled to relief, 

circumstances, questioning, juror, restaurant, asserts, competency hearing, death penalty, sentences, 

mitigating circumstances, defense counsel, lineup, cases, hair, incompetent, perpetrator, competency, 

withdrawal, gun, competent to stand trial, death sentence, mass murder, disorder, cross-examination 

Case Summary 
  

Procedural Posture 
Defendant was convicted of three counts of premeditated murder, three counts of felony murder, one count 

of attempted murder, and one count of especially aggravated robbery. Each of the felony murder 

convictions was merged with the corresponding premeditated murder convictions and defendant was 

sentenced to death. The Tennessee Court of Criminal Appeals affirmed. Defendant appealed. 

Overview 
Defendant argued, inter alia, that the trial court erred by finding that he was competent to stand trial. The 

supreme court disagreed. The trial court determined that defendant was able to consult with his counsel 

and otherwise assist in the preparation of his defense. The evidence in the record did not preponderate 

against the trial court's findings. The trial court heard and specifically accredited the testimony of the 

independent expert witnesses. In addition, the trial court found that defendant himself had expressed an 

understanding of the proceedings. Although defendant had been diagnosed by his experts with 



anosognosia, the trial court was free to assess their credibility and reject their testimony. One of defendant's 

experts admitted that defendant had a previous history of malingering, he had rationally discussed many 

facets of his case with his attorneys, and he understood the roles of the prosecutor, the judge, and the 

defense attorneys. Moreover, the trial court applied the correct legal standard: whether defendant had the 

capacity to understand the nature and object of the proceedings against him, to consult with counsel, and 

to assist in preparing his defense. 

Outcome 
The judgment was affirmed. 
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HN3[ ]  Pretrial Motions & Procedures, Competency to Stand Trial 

A competency hearing is a very narrow inquiry aimed at determining whether one who is charged with a 
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HN6[ ]  Relevance, Relevant Evidence 
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The right to a fair trial before an impartial tribunal is a fundamental constitutional right. The preservation of 

the public's confidence in judicial neutrality requires not only that the judge be impartial in fact, but also that 

the judge be perceived to be impartial. Recusal is warranted when a person of ordinary prudence in the 

judge's position, knowing all of the facts known to the judge, would find a reasonable basis for questioning 

the judge's impartiality. Hence, the test is ultimately an objective one since the appearance of bias is as 

injurious to the integrity of the judicial system as actual bias. Whether recusal is necessary rests within the 

discretion of the trial court. An appellate court will not interfere with the trial court's discretion unless clear 



abuse appears on the face of the record. 
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& Recusal 

HN8[ ]  Pretrial Motions & Procedures, Disqualification & Recusal 

A trial judge is not disqualified because that judge has previously presided over legal proceedings involving 
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HN10[ ]  Homicide, Manslaughter & Murder, Murder 

See Tenn. Code Ann. § 39-13-204(i)(12) (Supp. 1996). 
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Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Sentencing Guidelines > Departures From Guidelines > General 

Overview 

HN11[ ]  Homicide, Manslaughter & Murder, Murder 

Tenn. Code Ann. § 39-13-204(i)(12) (Supp. 1996) may be constitutionally applied if the triggering offenses 

are shown only by convictions that have been entered prior to the sentencing hearing at which they are to 

be utilized. The mass murder aggravating circumstance is appropriate for a series of separate but related 

homicides committed as part of a common scheme or plan. 
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See Tenn. Code Ann. § 39-13-204(c) (2003). 
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HN13[ ]  Imposition of Sentence, Evidence 

The Tennessee Rules of Evidence do not limit the admissibility of evidence in a capital sentencing 

proceeding. Tenn. Code Ann. § 39-13-204(c) (2003) empowers trial judges with wider discretion than would 

normally be allowed under the Tennessee Rules of Evidence in the admission of evidence during the 

penalty phase of a capital case. The Tennessee Rules of Evidence should not be applied to preclude 

introduction of otherwise reliable evidence that is relevant to the issue of punishment, as it relates to 

mitigating or aggravating circumstances, the nature and circumstances of the particular crime, or the 

character and background of the individual defendant. Because the rules of evidence are too restrictive and 

unwieldy in the arena of capital sentencing, the terms of the statute apply. 

 

Criminal Law & Procedure > Sentencing > Capital Punishment > Aggravating Circumstances 

Criminal Law & Procedure > Sentencing > Appeals > Capital Punishment 

Criminal Law & Procedure > Sentencing > Capital Punishment > Mitigating Circumstances 

HN14[ ]  Capital Punishment, Aggravating Circumstances 

Pursuant to Tenn. Code Ann. § 39-13-206(c)(1) (2003), the Tennessee Supreme Court must determine 

whether the evidence supported the jury's finding that the aggravating circumstances were established 

beyond a reasonable doubt and that the aggravating circumstances outweighed evidence of mitigating 

circumstances beyond a reasonable doubt. § 39-13-206(c)(1)(B)-(C). 

 

Criminal Law & Procedure > Sentencing > Appeals > Capital Punishment 

Criminal Law & Procedure > Sentencing > Appeals > Proportionality & Reasonableness Review 

HN15[ ]  Appeals, Capital Punishment 

When a defendant has been sentenced to death, the Tennessee Supreme Court is required to engage in 

a comparative proportionality analysis. Tenn. Code Ann. § 39-13-206(c)(1)(D) (2003). Comparative 



proportionality review presumes that the death penalty is not disproportionate to the crime in the traditional 

sense. It purports to inquire instead whether the penalty is nonetheless unacceptable in a particular case 

because disproportionate to the punishment imposed on others convicted of the same crime. The supreme 

court employs the precedent-seeking method of comparative proportionality review, in which it compares a 

case with cases involving similar defendants and similar crimes. A death sentence is disproportionate if a 

case is plainly lacking in circumstances consistent with those in cases where the death penalty has been 

imposed. The pool of cases considered by the supreme court includes those first degree murder cases in 

which the State seeks the death penalty, a capital sentencing hearing is held, and the sentencing jury 

determines whether the sentence should be life imprisonment, life imprisonment without the possibility of 

parole, or death. 

 

Criminal Law & Procedure > Sentencing > Appeals > Capital Punishment 

Criminal Law & Procedure > Sentencing > Appeals > Proportionality & Reasonableness Review 

HN16[ ]  Appeals, Capital Punishment 
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considers the following factors regarding the offense: (1) the means of death; (2) the manner of death; (3) 

the motivation for the killing; (4) the place of death; (5) the victim's age, physical condition, and 

psychological condition; (6) the absence or presence of premeditation; (7) the absence or presence of 

provocation; (8) the absence or presence of justification; and (9) the injury to and effect upon non-decedent 

victims. The supreme Court must also consider the following factors about the defendant: (1) prior criminal 

record, if any; (2) age, race, and gender; (3) mental, emotional, and physical condition; (4) role in the 

murder; (5) cooperation with authorities; (6) level of remorse; (7) knowledge of the victim's helplessness; 

and (8) potential for rehabilitation. 
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Opinion 
 
 

 [*804]  The defendant, Paul Dennis Reid, Jr., was convicted of three counts of premeditated murder, three 

counts of felony murder, one count of attempted murder, and one count of especially aggravated robbery. 

The trial court merged each of the felony murder convictions with the corresponding 

premeditated [**2]  murder convictions. The jury sentenced the defendant to death based upon four 



aggravating circumstances, see Tenn. Code Ann. § 39-13-204(i)(2), (6), (7), (12) (Supp. 1996), and further 

found that the aggravating circumstances outweighed the mitigating circumstances beyond a reasonable 

doubt, see Tenn. Code Ann. § 39-13-204(g)(1) (Supp. 1996). We hold that (1) the trial court did not err by 

finding the defendant competent to stand trial; (2) the trial court did not err by admitting the testimony of the 

defendant's former employer; (3) the trial court did not err by denying the motion to limit proof regarding the 

defendant's financial condition; (4) the trial court did not err by refusing to recuse itself from the case; (5) 

the trial court did not err by allowing the State to introduce evidence of the murders at the Captain D's 

restaurant to establish the "mass murder" aggravating circumstance; and (6) the defendant's sentences of 

death are not invalid under the mandatory review criteria of Tennessee Code Annotated section 39-13-206(c)(1). 

As to the remaining issues, we agree with the conclusions [**3]  reached by the Court of Criminal Appeals. 

The relevant portions of its opinion are appended. The  [*805]  judgment of the Court of Criminal Appeals 

is, therefore, affirmed. 

 
OPINION 

The defendant, Paul Dennis Reid, Jr., was indicted for three counts of premeditated murder, three counts 

of felony murder during the perpetration of a robbery, one count of attempted first degree murder, and one 

count of especially aggravated robbery. 

 
Guilt Phase of Trial 

On March 23, 1997, Ronald Santiago, Andrea Brown, Robert Sewell, and Jose Ramirez Gonzales, 

employees of a McDonald's restaurant on Donelson Pike in Davidson County, Tennessee, had just 

completed their night shift when the defendant forced his way into the restaurant, ordered them into the 

office, and demanded money. After Santiago, the manager, handed over the contents of the restaurant 

safe, the defendant directed the employees into a storage area and ordered them to lie on the floor. He 

then fired two shots each into the heads of Brown, Santiago, and Sewell. When the defendant attempted 

to shoot Gonzales, however, the gun malfunctioned. Gonzales struggled and the defendant drew a knife 

and stabbed him repeatedly. Gonzales stopped [**4]  fighting, feigned death, and when the defendant left, 

was able to telephone for help. Santiago and Sewell died at the scene. Brown died later at the hospital. 

At trial, Gonzales testified that on the night of the shooting he and Robert Sewell were leaving the restaurant 

when they were confronted by a man armed with a small, silver handgun and carrying a bag under his arm. 

Gonzales recalled that the man, whom he later identified as the defendant, said something in English. 

Santiago, who was in the doorway of the restaurant and overheard the comment, translated into Spanish, 

informing Gonzales that the defendant had ordered them back into the restaurant. When the three men 

returned to the restaurant, the defendant demanded the money from the safe and placed the contents into 

his bag. Gonzales recalled that the defendant then directed the employees into a storage area where he 

shot Sewell, Santiago, and Brown execution-style. The defendant then attempted to shoot Gonzales, but 

the gun malfunctioned. Gonzales fought the defendant but was overpowered and stabbed in the stomach. 

As Gonzales fell to the floor, the defendant stabbed and kicked him repeatedly. The defendant discontinued 

the [**5]  attack only when Gonzales pretended to be dead. Although badly injured, Gonzales was able to 

telephone 911 after the defendant left. The police arrived minutes later and Gonzales was taken to the 

hospital by ambulance. 

Dorothy Carter, the dispatcher who answered the 911 call, testified that she could hear only groans and 

mumbling. Although she was unable to communicate with the caller, she nevertheless dispatched both the 

police and an ambulance to the restaurant. 



Detective Mike Rolland, who investigated, found no fingerprints, shoe prints, or other physical evidence 

linking the defendant to the crime scene. He and other officers found six Remington .25 caliber automatic 

cartridge casings inside the restaurant. Testing established that the casings matched the .25 caliber bullets 

recovered from the three murder victims. 

Detective Pat Postiglione testified that Gonzales worked with a police sketch artist in an effort to develop a 

composite drawing of the suspect. Gonzales had described the mustached perpetrator as twenty-nine to 

thirty years old, tall, thin, and possibly of Hispanic descent, with long hair only partially covered by his 

baseball cap. Detective Postiglione confirmed [**6]  that during the investigation, Gonzales 

viewed  [*806]  more than three hundred photographs of potential suspects, eventually identifying the 

defendant some four months after the shootings. 

Other testimony established that prior to the crimes the defendant had moved from Texas to Nashville to 

pursue a career in country music. He obtained employment at a Shoney's restaurant, where Mitchell 

Roberts served as manager. Roberts testified that the defendant worked at the Shoney's until February of 

1997, only weeks before the shootings. He stated that he next saw the defendant in June of 1997 when the 

defendant unexpectedly arrived at his residence. Roberts recalled that the defendant had in his possession 

a small caliber automatic handgun and a knife that was approximately eight to nine inches long. 

Danny Tackett, a former co-worker of the defendant, testified that in January 1997, he overheard the 

defendant, who was experiencing financial difficulties, speak of robbing a fast food restaurant at night, when 

there would be no witnesses. Tackett recalled that the defendant asked him for help in procuring a gun. 

The defendant made similar comments to another former co-worker, Jeffrey Potter, and explained [**7]  that 

robbery was an easy way to make money. Potter testified that the defendant had also solicited his 

assistance in an effort to acquire a gun. 

The proof established that approximately eight to ten weeks before the crimes, Robert Bolin sold the 

defendant two .25 caliber automatic handguns. One was nickel-plated with black handle grips and the other 

was nickel-plated with pink handles. Bolin testified that he gave the defendant a box of ammunition in a 

green and yellow box as a part of the transaction. 

Agent Tommy Heflin of the Tennessee Bureau of Investigation, who was familiar with ammunition for 

handguns, testified that the bullets recovered from the bodies of the victims were Remington brand. Agent 

Heflin confirmed that Remington ammunition was packaged in a green and yellow box. 

 
Sentencing Phase 

After the jury returned guilty verdicts and during the penalty phase of the trial, Assistant District Attorney 

Brian Johnson of Harris County, Texas, testified that the defendant had been convicted of aggravated 

robbery in his state in 1984. Walt Draper of the Davidson County Criminal Court Clerk's Office testified that 

the defendant had been convicted of two counts of first [**8]  degree murder and one count of aggravated 

robbery on April 14, 1999. John Carney, Jr., District Attorney General for the Nineteenth Judicial District, 

testified that on September 22, 1999, the defendant had been convicted of two counts of first degree 

murder, two counts of especially aggravated kidnapping, and one count of aggravated robbery. The parties 

stipulated that each of these crimes involved the use of violence to the person. 

Detective Postiglione pointed out the similarities between the crimes in this case and those that the 

defendant had committed earlier at a nearby Captain D's restaurant. According to the officer, the two 

separate criminal episodes took place at fast food restaurants. Both occurred on a Sunday while the 

restaurants were closed. In each instance, the restaurants had been locked following the crimes. In addition, 



there was no sign of forced entry at either restaurant. The defendant had used a small caliber weapon and 

in each incident, the victims were forced to lie face down in an isolated area of the restaurant before they 

were murdered. Each of the murder victims suffered two gunshot wounds to the head. Detective Postiglione 

testified that the modus operandi [**9]  in each case was  [*807]  unlike any other that had been used in 

Davidson County in at least fifteen years. 

Robert Sewell's sister, Connie Chesmore, testified that the death of her twenty-three-year-old brother had 

affected their family "in every way." She stated that her father was too angry to attend the trial and that her 

grief-stricken mother was simply unable to testify. Another sister, Brenda Sewell, confirmed her mother's 

distressed emotional state, explaining, for example, that she could no longer prepare the family meals. 

Ivette Rivera, the widow of Ronald Santiago, testified that both she and her daughter suffered extensively 

after her husband's death. Santiago's brother, Jamie Palmir, testified that his family had been devastated 

by the experience. He explained that their mother was unable to attend the trial because of poor health. 

Doyle Brown testified that his seventeen-year-old daughter, Andrea Brown, attended Hume-Fogg High 

School, where she was an excellent student with many friends. His daughter had performed volunteer work 

at a homeless mission and aspired to be a chef. Brown, who believed he could not recover emotionally 

from his daughter's death, stated that he had kept [**10]  both her room and her car, which was purchased 

on the day before her murder, exactly as they had been at the time of the shooting. 

Dr. Xavier Amador, a witness for the defense, diagnosed the defendant as suffering from chronic paranoid 

schizophrenia. It was his opinion that the defendant experienced delusions that he was under constant 

government surveillance. Dr. Amador learned from the family members of the defendant that the defendant 

had suffered from delusions nearly all of his adult life and believed that he had been selected for a secret 

governmental mission which required constant surveillance. Dr. Amador testified that the defendant, who 

had declared his intention to become a lawyer when "this is all over," believed that the government 

surveillance team would take care of his legal problems. The defendant was also diagnosed with 

anosognosia, a symptom of psychosis in which a person with a brain injury compulsively attempts to prove 

that he is free of a mental illness. Dr. Amador found that the defendant's brain had been "broken" by a 

series of head injuries as a child. 

Dr. Pamela Auble, a neuropsychologist, examined the defendant, concluding that he experienced 

difficulty [**11]  with language skills, lacked reasoning in complicated situations, and had lost motor skills 

as a result of brain injury. It was her opinion that the defendant did, in fact, suffer from delusions that he 

was under government surveillance. She explained that it was the defendant's belief that the inmate in the 

adjacent cell was a government agent assigned to either kill him or drive him crazy. Dr. Auble determined 

that the defendant was suffering from a psychotic disorder caused by his general medical condition, that 

he had a cognitive disorder which was caused by his previous head injuries, and that he was not 

malingering. It was her opinion that the psychotic and cognitive disorders had a "significant impact" on the 

defendant's criminal acts. On cross-examination, however, Dr. Auble acknowledged her awareness that 

the defendant had malingered in the past and that he had lied to others about statements she had made to 

him. She conceded that his crimes required planning and were not the result of impulse. 

Patricia Allen, a language pathologist at Vanderbilt Medical Center, evaluated the defendant at the request 

of Dr. Auble. Upon reviewing the defendant's medical and school records,  [**12]  she learned that he had 

a chaotic childhood, living alternately  [*808]  with his mother, grandmother, and father. She stated that the 

defendant's home environment hampered the development of normal speech and language skills. Allen 

confirmed that the defendant had suffered multiple head injuries as a child, testifying that in separate 

incidents, he had been hit in the back of the head with a brick, had fallen off of a bicycle, and had been hit 

by a car. She learned that the defendant had also been involved in a car accident as an adult resulting in a 



loss of consciousness. It was her conclusion that the defendant's behavior was consistent with his history 

of brain injury. Ms. Allen acknowledged that she did not test the defendant for malingering. She conceded 

that in many of the tests she administered, the defendant scored average and above average. 

Dr. Robert Kessler, a neuroradiologist, conducted magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and positron 

emission tomography (PET) scans on the defendant. He testified that the scans indicated shrinkage or 

atrophy of the left temporal lobe of the defendant's brain. It was his opinion that the defendant suffered from 

decreased glucose metabolism, which [**13]  was the result of the dysfunction of the left temporal lobe. Dr. 

Kessler explained that the brain damage had likely been caused by a head injury when the defendant was 

seven or eight years old. He described the damage to the left temporal lobe as associated with psychotic 

disorders producing delusional states. Dr. Kessler acknowledged, however, that the injury would not have 

prevented the defendant from planning and executing the robbery and murders. 

Dr. Helen Mayberg, a neurologist, also examined the defendant and testified in rebuttal for the State. While 

she agreed that the defendant suffered an abnormality of the left temporal lobe of his brain, it was her 

opinion that the damage was congenital rather than the result of any trauma. Dr. Mayberg testified that no 

single area of the brain could be associated with schizophrenia or psychosis. It was her conclusion that the 

damage to the defendant's left temporal lobe did not cause him to commit the crimes at issue. 

At the conclusion of the penalty phase of the trial, the jury imposed sentences of death for each of the three 

counts of first degree murder. The jury found that four aggravating circumstances had been proven beyond 

a reasonable [**14]  doubt, see Tenn. Code Ann. § 39-13-204(i)(2), (6), (7), (12) (Supp. 1996), and that the 

evidence of aggravating circumstances outweighed evidence of mitigating circumstances beyond a 

reasonable doubt, see Tenn. Code Ann. § 39-13-204(g) (Supp. 1996). Because the Court of Criminal 

Appeals affirmed the convictions and sentences, the appeal was automatically docketed in this Court. See 

Tenn. Code Ann. § 39-13-206(a)(1) (Supp. 1996). 

 
Analysis 

 
I. Competence 

The defendant first asserts that the trial court erred by finding that he was competent to stand trial. HN1[

] The Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, section 8 of the Tennessee Constitution 

prohibit a mentally incompetent person from being put to trial. Pate v. Robinson, 383 U.S. 375, 378, 86 S. Ct. 

836, 15 L. Ed. 2d 815 (1966); State v. Blackstock, 19 S.W.3d 200, 205 (Tenn. 2000). To be competent to stand trial, 

a criminal defendant must have "'the capacity to understand the nature and object of the proceedings 

against him, to consult with counsel and to assist in preparing his [**15]  defense.'" State v. Black, 815 S.W.2d 

166, 174 (Tenn. 1991) (quoting Mackey v. State, 537 S.W.2d 704, 707 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1975)). The defendant 

bears the burden of establishing his incompetence by a preponderance  [*809]  of the evidence. State v. 

Reid, 164 S.W.3d 286, 306-08 (Tenn. 2005). The trial court's findings "are conclusive on appeal unless the 

evidence preponderates otherwise." State v. Oody, 823 S.W.2d 554, 559 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1991). 

Prior to trial, the trial court held extensive hearings on the issue of competence, took judicial notice of the 

expert testimony that had been presented during the penalty phase of the Captain D's trial, see State v. Reid, 

91 S.W.3d 247, 267-71 (Tenn. 2002) (for a summary of mental health evidence presented), and reviewed the 

proof presented at the defendant's competency hearing in the Baskin-Robbins case, see Reid, 164 S.W.3d 

at 303-06 (same). Mary Ann Hea, Reverend Joe Ingle, James Kyne, and Dr. Auble testified for the defense, 

and Dr. Daniel Martell testified on behalf of the State. Dr. Keith Caruso, Dr. Samuel Craddock, Dr. Rokaya 



Farooque, and [**16]  Rebecca Smith served as independent experts appointed by the trial court. 

Dr. Auble, who first examined the defendant during the trial of the Captain D's murders, testified at a hearing 

in the Baskin-Robbins case that the defendant was incompetent to stand trial. It was her testimony in this 

case that the defendant suffered from delusions and anosognosia, had difficulty conceptualizing, and had 

an increasing distrust of his attorneys. She opined that these disabilities prevented the defendant from 

consulting with his attorneys with any reasonable degree of factual understanding. Dr. Auble believed that 

the defendant labored under the delusion that his trial was a part of a larger conspiracy by the government 

to frame him for the murders so he would receive the death penalty. While she admitted that the defendant 

had a previous history of malingering, that he had rationally discussed many facets of his case with his 

attorneys, and that he understood the roles of the prosecutor, the judge, and the defense attorneys, Dr. 

Auble believed that the defendant's delusions had worsened over time. 

Ms. Hea, a social worker employed by the Davidson County Public Defender's Office, testified 

that [**17]  the defendant lacked trust in his attorneys and refused to talk with her about his case. She 

recalled that the defendant did discuss his childhood, television shows, his ambitions to become a lawyer 

when he was released from prison, and the possibility of marriage at some point in the future. Ms. Hea 

stated that the defendant had claimed that a portion of his brain had been removed and that he had the 

brain of a man half his age. She also recalled that the defendant had asked for documents from his previous 

trials so that he could work on his appeals. 

Reverend Ingle, who had become the defendant's pastor through his work in prison ministries, spent more 

than seventy-five hours talking with the defendant. He found that the defendant did not focus on his trial 

strategy and instead tended to concentrate on irrelevant details. Reverend Ingle observed that the 

defendant expended a great deal of energy trying to appear normal, often watching and mimicking the 

behavior of others. It was his opinion that the defendant behaved much like a twelve-year-old boy. 

James Kyne, who met the defendant through Reverend Ingle's prison ministry, testified that the defendant 

believed that the trial had [**18]  a predetermined outcome. It was his opinion that the defendant had an 

irrational view of the judicial system. Kyne confirmed that the defendant claimed that he was under 

government surveillance. 

Dr. Martell, a psychologist specializing in forensic psychology and neuropsychology, testified as a witness 

for the State at the competency hearing. He had evaluated  [*810]  the defendant prior to the Captain D's 

trial and had conducted a two-hour interview with the defendant on the day before he testified in this case. 

It was his opinion that during the most recent interview, the defendant was not suffering from hallucinations 

or delusions. He recalled that the defendant explained that his attorneys had decided to pursue a mental 

illness defense because of his convictions in the Baskin-Robbins case. According to Dr. Martell, the 

defendant understood from his attorneys that he might be spared the death penalty if they could establish 

that he was suffering from a mental illness. The defendant also informed Dr. Martell that Dr. Auble had 

previously indicated her desire to do all that she could to prevent him from being executed. 

Dr. Martell testified that the defendant believed that the prosecutor [**19]  was attempting to manufacture 

evidence by making the Captain D's and McDonald's murders appear similar. He stated that the defendant 

pointed out numerous discrepancies in the proof presented at the Captain D's trial as proof of his theory. 

The defendant also contended that he did not trust his attorneys because they were "killing him" through 

their incompetence. It was Dr. Martell's opinion that the defendant understood the legal process and was 

competent to stand trial. He stated that the defendant possessed an "acute understanding" of the trial 

procedures, including the roles of the judge, jury, defense attorneys, and prosecutors, and recognized the 

possibility of a death sentence. The defendant also understood that he had been charged with capital 

offenses. Dr. Martell testified that although he had previously diagnosed the defendant with a delusional 



disorder with grandiose and persecutory features, that condition appeared to be in remission. 

Dr. Keith Caruso, an independent expert appointed by the trial court, met with the defendant on three 

occasions, reviewed the reports of other experts, and read the transcript of the competency hearing in the 

Baskin-Robbins case. It was Dr.  [**20]  Caruso's opinion that the defendant was incompetent to stand trial: 
[H]e appears to have a schizo-affective disorder, bipolar type, most recent episode mixed, which includes 

both manic and depressive features. There are several symptoms that he has of that condition I feel that 

interferes with his competency at this time. I believe that he has persecutory paranoid grandiose delusions 

that involve the government and date back a number of years, but more recently have begun to incorporate 

[defense counsel], among others into his delusional system in that he has, that has impaired him because 

of his paranoia about [defense counsel] and [defense counsel's] motives. That has impaired him in his 

capacity to work with [defense counsel]. 

I believe also associated with the delusional system, he also has a thought disorder that is manifested by 

tangential speech, loosening of associations, preservative thought, concrete thought processes as well. I 

feel that it makes it difficult for him to reason and to think clearly at all times. I think there are times where 

he has windows where he appears to think clearly, but what I felt on that issue was that it was essentially 

that [**21]  it was not predictable when those would occur, in that he does not have predictable competency. 

I feel he is incompetent in those areas as well. 
I did feel that he had irrational as well as factual appreciation of the possible consequences of the charges 

against him. 
It was also his opinion that the defendant was not malingering and, in fact, was attempting to appear normal. 

 [*811]  Dr. Caruso, the only expert to diagnose the defendant with schizo-affective disorder, acknowledged 

that the defendant had been able to discuss trial strategies. He also conceded that the defendant provided 

a reasonable explanation as to why he did not want to offer mitigation evidence and that he understood 

court procedure, the roles of the parties, the purpose of the competency proceedings, the charges against 

him, and the nature of the legal proceedings. Dr. Caruso explained that the discrepancies between his 

findings and those of Dr. Martell were the result of the defendant's mood swings. 

After hearing testimony from Drs. Auble, Martell, and Caruso, the trial court ordered that the defendant be 

evaluated by the Forensic Services Division of the Tennessee Department of Mental Health. Dr. Samuel 

Craddock,  [**22]  a forensic psychologist on the evaluation team, met with the defendant on five separate 

occasions and concluded that he was rational, competent, and prepared "to proceed with his trial." It was 

Dr. Craddock's opinion that the defendant understood the seriousness of the charges against him, had a 

factual understanding of the evidence, and was willing to cooperate with his attorneys to achieve the best 

possible outcome. Dr. Craddock acknowledged that certain aspects of the defendant's personality did 

interfere with his ability to work with his attorneys. 

Dr. Craddock testified that the evaluation team diagnosed the defendant with mixed receptive and 

expressive language disorder, anti-social personality disorder, hearing loss in the left ear, and a congenital 

malformation of the left temporal lobe of the brain. It was his opinion that while the defendant had previously 

suffered from mental illness, he did not display any signs or symptoms of a delusional personality disorder. 

Dr. Craddock disagreed with the diagnoses of Drs. Auble and Caruso and did not believe that the defendant 

was delusional at the time of the competency hearing. Dr. Rokaya Farooque, a psychiatrist, and Rebecca 

Smith,  [**23]  a social worker, who were also part of the evaluation team, concurred with the findings of 

Dr. Craddock. 

Dr. Auble testified in rebuttal at the competency hearing, expressing her belief that the defendant's mental 

condition was worsening. It was also her opinion that the defendant's trust in his legal counsel had 

deteriorated and she explained that the defendant's claim that he was willing to work with his attorneys was 



a part of his effort to appear normal. 

At the conclusion of the hearing, the trial court found the defendant competent to stand trial, placing 

particular emphasis on statements by the defendant during a recorded session with Dr. Caruso. During that 

interview, the defendant expressed an understanding of the charges against him, the possible penalties, 

the roles of the judge and jury, the differences in procedure in capital and non-capital cases, the role of 

evidence in a trial, and specific incriminating evidence against him. The trial court determined that the 

defendant was able to consult with his counsel and otherwise assist in the preparation of his defense. 

In our view, the evidence in the record does not preponderate against the trial court's finding that 

the [**24]  defendant was competent to stand trial. The trial court heard and specifically accredited the 

testimony of Drs. Martell, Craddock, and Farooque. In addition, the trial court found that the defendant 

himself had expressed an understanding of the proceedings. Although the defendant had been diagnosed 

by Drs. Auble and Caruso with anosognosia, the trial court was free to assess their credibility and reject 

their expert testimony.  [*812]  Moreover, the trial court applied the correct legal standard: whether the 

defendant had "'the capacity to understand the nature and object of the proceedings against him, to consult 

with counsel and to assist in preparing his defense.'" Black, 815 S.W.2d at 174 (quoting Mackey, 537 S.W.2d at 

707). 

During the oral argument of this case, the defendant asked this Court to consider as a post-judgment fact 

that the State had conceded in an unrelated federal court proceeding that the defendant was not competent 

to waive his appeals under the standard announced in Rees v. Peyton, 384 U.S. 312, 314, 86 S. Ct. 1505, 16 L. 

Ed. 2d 583 (1966). HN2[ ] Under certain limited circumstances, this Court may consider facts which arise 

after entry of [**25]  the trial court's judgment. See Tenn. R. App. P. 14; State v. Williams, 52 S.W.3d 109, 122 

(Tenn. Crim. App. 2001). The authority granted by Rule 14 "generally will extend only to those facts, capable 

of ready demonstration, affecting the positions of the parties or the subject matter of the action such as 

mootness, bankruptcy, divorce, death, other judgments or proceedings, relief from the judgment requested 

or granted in the trial court, and other similar matters." Tenn. R. App. P. 14(a). Facts not appropriate for 

consideration under Rule 14 include those which are merely cumulative, could be controverted or contested 

when presented to the trial court, and which might lead to differing opinions or conclusions. Duncan v. 

Duncan, 672 S.W.2d 765, 767-68 (Tenn. 1984). Rule 14, therefore, "is not intended to permit a retrial in the 

appellate court." Tenn. R. App. P. 14, Advisory Commission Comments. 

The defendant has a total of seven murder convictions with corresponding death sentences for each arising 

out of three separate trials. This case involves the direct appeal of the last of the three cases to be tried. 

Post-conviction litigation in the [**26]  other two cases is pending in the State and Federal courts. The 

defendant's sister, Linda Martiniano, recently filed a petition for a stay of execution and a request to act as 

the defendant's next friend in the United States District Court for the Middle District of Tennessee, citing 

the defendant's incompetence as a basis for the motion and petition. The District Court ordered that the 

defendant be evaluated to establish his present competency. The State appeared in the District Court on 

August 24, 2006, and announced that it would "withdraw its objection" to Martiniano acting as next friend 

of the defendant "on the basis of a psychological examination that was conducted by our retained expert . 

. . just last week . . . which resulted in a finding by our expert a conclusion that [the defendant] is presently 

incompetent to make a rational decision to waive his capital appeals in accordance with the standards set 

forth in" Rees v. Peyton. 

In a report attached to the defendant's motion, Dr. Martell states that the defendant is suffering from "very 

specific paranoid psychopathology (i.e., persecutory delusions) superimposed on an antisocial personality 

disorder, and against a backdrop [**27]  that is otherwise largely within normal limits. . . . These findings 

are consistent . . . with an Axis I diagnosis of Delusional Disorder." It is Dr. Martell's opinion that the 



defendant must be treated for his mental disease in order to meet the Rees standard. He pointed out, 

however, that Delusional Disorder "is one of the most difficult and intractable mental disorders to treat." 

In our view, the State's concession and Dr. Martell's findings have little, if any, bearing on the issues 

presented in this direct appeal. While the defendant has raised the issue of his competence to 

stand  [*813]  trial, a current finding of incompetence would not affect our analysis. See Black, 815 S.W.2d at 

174 (HN3[ ] "'[A] competency hearing is a very narrow inquiry aimed at determining whether one who is 

charged with a criminal offense is presently competent to stand trial.'" (quoting State v. Stacy, 556 S.W.2d 552, 

553 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1977)); cf. Berndt v. State, 733 S.W.2d 119, 122 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1987) (holding in a case 

considering whether the trial court should have conducted a competency hearing sua sponte that "an 

appellate court may only consider [**28]  those facts which were before the court when the trial 

commenced"). Further, Dr. Martell opined during the competency hearing just before the trial in this case 

that the defendant's delusions were in remission and that he was competent at that point in time. That the 

defendant's condition is no longer in remission would have no impact on the trial court's finding of his 

competence to stand trial. The motion to consider post-judgment facts must, therefore, be denied. 

Finally, the defendant has asked this Court to supplement the record with the transcript of the federal 

proceeding, including Dr. Martell's report. Because we have determined that neither the transcript nor the 

report may be considered under Tennessee Rule of Appellate Procedure 14, it is our view that the record should 

not be supplemented with these documents. 

 
II. Testimony of Mitchell Roberts 

The defendant asserts that the trial court should have excluded testimony that, shortly after the crimes, he 

possessed a small caliber, automatic handgun and a double-bladed knife. HN4[ ] Tennessee Rule of 

Evidence 404(b) provides that "[e]vidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the 

character of a person [**29]  in order to show action in conformity with the character trait." Tenn. R. Evid. 

404(b). At trial, Mitchell Roberts, the defendant's former employer, testified that the defendant possessed 

the gun and the knife after the commission of the crimes. The Court of Criminal Appeals ruled that the trial 

court did not err by admitting the testimony, reasoning that the evidence was relevant and not prohibited by 

Tennessee Rule of Evidence 404(b) because the possession of a weapon is not necessarily a crime or wrongful 

act. We agree. 

Other jurisdictions have ruled similarly in these circumstances. For example, in Busey v. United States, the 

Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia ruled that "testimony that Busey possessed a revolver that 

might have been the murder weapon was not admitted improperly to establish criminal propensity. That 

evidence was directly relevant . . . because it constituted evidence supporting the charge that Busey was 

the person who" committed the crimes charged. Busey v. United States, 747 A.2d 1153, 1165 (D.C. Cir. 2000). 

That court has also ruled that "[a]n accused person's prior possession of the physical means of committing 

the crime is [**30]  some evidence of the probability of his guilt, and is therefore admissible." Coleman v. 

United States, 379 A.2d 710, 712 (D.C. Cir. 1977). Similarly, in People v. Houston, the Michigan Court of 

Appeals determined that proof that Houston had possessed a .380 handgun three days before the victim 

was murdered with the same caliber weapon "was directly relevant to identifying defendant as the killer," 

concluding that the evidence was not inadmissible under Rule 404(b) because the "mere possession of a 

pistol is not a crime." People v. Houston, 261 Mich. App. 463, 683 N.W.2d 192, 195-96 (Mich. Ct. App. 2004). In 

Williams v. State, the Indiana Supreme Court observed that "[i]t is by no means clear that weapons 

possession, evidence of gun sales, and the like, are necessarily  [*814]  prior 'bad acts' for 404(b) 

purposes." Williams v. State, 690 N.E.2d 162, 174-75 (Ind. 1997). Finally, the Maryland Supreme Court has also 

agreed that the HN5[ ] defendant's possession of guns or ammunition does not qualify as a bad act under 



the evidentiary rules. Klauenberg v. State, 355 Md. 528, 735 A.2d 1061, 1073 (Md. 1999). 

Under Tennessee law,  [**31]  it is a crime to carry a firearm or large knife with the "intent to go armed." 

See Tenn. Code Ann. § 39-17-1307 (2003). Nevertheless, weapons of the type described by Roberts, a 

double-bladed knife and a small caliber weapon, may be lawfully possessed under a variety of 

circumstances. See Tenn. Code Ann. § 39-17-1308 (2003). In our view, the ownership of these weapons, 

standing alone, does not constitute a crime. The testimony that Roberts saw the defendant in the 

possession of weapons similar to those used in the crimes did not necessarily constitute evidence of a bad 

act. Because of the weapons' similarity to those described by the victim Gonzales, the evidence was 

especially probative as to the identity of the perpetrator. The trial court did not err by admitting the testimony 

of Mitchell Roberts. 

 
III. Defendant's Financial Condition 

The defendant contends that the trial court erred by admitting testimony that he left his employment at a 

Shoney's restaurant in February of 1997, received no severance pay, and was unemployed at the time of 

the crimes. He asserts that evidence of his poverty was irrelevant under [**32]  Tennessee Rule of Evidence 

401. In the alternative, he contends that the evidence should have been excluded as more prejudicial than 

probative under Tennessee Rule of Evidence 403. 

Several jurisdictions have concluded that the poverty of an accused is generally inadmissible as proof of a 

motive for theft or robbery because its probative value is outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. See 

United States v. Mitchell, 172 F.3d 1104, 1108-10 (9th Cir. 1999); see also United States v. Weller, 238 F.3d 

1215, 1220-21 (10th Cir. 2001); United States v. Zipkin, 729 F.2d 384, 390 (6th Cir. 1984); United States ex rel. 

Mertz v. New Jersey, 423 F.2d 537, 541-42 (3d Cir. 1970); Davis v. United States, 133 U.S. App. D.C. 167, 409 F.2d 

453, 457-58 (D.C. Cir. 1969); People v. Harris, 37 Cal. 4th 310, 33 Cal. Rptr. 3d 509, 118 P.3d 545, 570 (Cal. 2005); 

State v. Kennard, 101 Wn. App. 533, 6 P.3d 38, 42 (Wash. Ct. App. 2000). A majority, however, have determined 

that evidence of a defendant's poverty is admissible when coupled with proof of an unexplained 

improvement in his financial status. See,  [**33]   e.g., United States v. Bensimon, 172 F.3d 1121, 1129 (9th Cir. 

1999) ("To be admissible . . . poverty evidence must be accompanied by something more, such as an 

'unexplained, abrupt change in circumstances.'" (quoting Mitchell, 172 F.3d at 1109)). 

In our view, evidence that a defendant is poor, without more, has little probative value. As observed by the 

Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals, "A rich man's greed is as much a motive to steal as a poor man's poverty. 

Proof of either, without more, is likely to amount to . . . unfair prejudice with little probative value." Mitchell, 

172 F.3d at 1108-09. The better rule, therefore, is that HN6[ ] the State must introduce proof of "something 

more" than a defendant's poverty in order to meet the threshold of relevance necessary for admission. 

In this instance, "something more" was proof that despite the loss of his job without severance pay, the 

defendant had made several cash purchases totaling in excess of $ 800, had sought to invest $ 3000, and 

had over $ 1000 in coins  [*815]  in his possession at the time of his arrest. That the defendant had no 

legitimate source of income following the termination of [**34]  his employment, coupled with proof of these 

expenditures shortly after the robbery, was relevant, circumstantial evidence of the commission of the 

crimes. Accordingly, the trial court did not err in admitting testimony about his financial condition at the time 

of the crimes. 

 
IV. Recusal 



The defendant also asserts that the trial judge erred by denying his motion for recusal. He contends that 

because the same trial judge had presided over the Captain D's trial, the judge was unable to impartially 

exercise her role as thirteenth juror in this case. See generally State v. Carter, 896 S.W.2d 119, 121-22 (Tenn. 

1995) (for a history and explanation of the thirteenth juror rule). He also argues that the trial judge's 

comments during the competency hearing demonstrated that she had an opinion on that issue prior to 

hearing the evidence. 

The Court of Criminal Appeals ruled "that the judge's participation in [d]efendant's previous capital murder 

trial" did not "color[] her rulings in this case in any regard." That court also concluded that "the judge's 

remarks and actions at the competency hearing did not indicate partiality . . . and did not warrant recusal." 

HN7[ ] "The [**35]  right to a fair trial before an impartial tribunal is a fundamental constitutional right." 

State v. Austin, 87 S.W.3d 447 app. at 470 (Tenn. 2002). "[T]he preservation of the public's confidence in judicial 

neutrality requires not only that the judge be impartial in fact, but also that the judge be perceived to be 

impartial." Kinard v. Kinard, 986 S.W.2d 220, 228 (Tenn. Ct. App. 1998). Recusal is warranted "when a 

person of ordinary prudence in the judge's position, knowing all of the facts known to the judge, would find 

a reasonable basis for questioning the judge's impartiality." Alley v. State, 882 S.W.2d 810, 820 (Tenn. Crim. 

App. 1994). "Hence, the test is ultimately an objective one since the appearance of bias is as injurious to the 

integrity of the judicial system as actual bias." Davis v. Liberty Mut. Ins. Co., 38 S.W.3d 560, 565 (Tenn. 2001). 

"Whether recusal is necessary . . . rests within the discretion of the trial court." State v. McCary, 119 S.W.3d 

226, 260 (Tenn. Crim. App. 2003) (citing Caruthers v. State, 814 S.W.2d 64, 67 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1991)). This Court 

will [**36]  not interfere with the trial court's discretion unless clear abuse appears on the face of the record. 

Caruthers, 814 S.W.2d at 67. 

HN8[ ] A trial judge is not disqualified because that judge has previously presided over legal proceedings 

involving the same defendant. See State v. Hines, 919 S.W.2d 573, 578 (Tenn. 1995) ("'A judge is in no way 

disqualified because he tried and made certain findings in previous litigation.'" (quoting King v. State, 216 

Tenn. 215, 391 S.W.2d 637, 642 (1965)). Moreover, "[p]rior knowledge of facts about the case is not sufficient 

in and of itself to require disqualification." Alley, 882 S.W.2d at 822. 

In this instance, the defendant has simply been unable to establish that the trial judge's participation in the 

prior trial prevented her from exercising her role as thirteenth juror free from bias. The approval of the prior 

verdict, standing alone, is not cause for recusal. The defendant asserts, however, that there was other 

evidence of partiality. He points to a comment by the trial judge, who explained that because she was 

familiar with the proof presented during his previous two trials,  [**37]  she had little interest in relitigating 

the issues resolved during those trials.  [*816]  The defendant asserts that this is evidence of a 

predisposition on the part of the trial judge. 

In our assessment, the actions of the trial court were designed to expedite the litigation. That the trial judge 

ruled that the evidence would be limited to proof of the defendant's existing mental state, as opposed to his 

mental state at the prior trials, did not establish that she had formed an opinion with regard to competence. 

HN9[ ] The issue of competence is, of course, to be determined at the time of trial. See Black, 815 S.W.2d 

at 174. An adverse ruling does not necessarily indicate bias or prejudice. Alley, 882 S.W.2d at 821. Moreover, 

comments reflecting "insensitivity and lack of sympathy on the part of the judge" are insufficient to establish 

impartiality unless they are pervasive and accompanied by prejudicial conduct. Id. at 822. Because the 

defendant has failed to establish that the trial judge acted inappropriately, recusal was not required. 

 
 



V. Mass Murder Aggravating Circumstance  

The defendant contends that the trial court erred during the penalty [**38]  phase of the trial by permitting 

the State to introduce evidence of the murders at the Captain D's restaurant as a means of establishing the 

"mass murder" aggravating circumstance. He argues that because the trial court excluded the evidence 

during the guilt phase of the trial, the jury should not have been permitted to consider the prior convictions 

in their deliberation on capital punishment. 

At the time of the offenses, the "mass murder" aggravating circumstance was defined as follows: HN10[

] "The defendant committed 'mass murder,' which is defined as the murder of three (3) or more persons 

within the state of Tennessee within a period of forty-eight (48) months, and perpetrated in a similar fashion 

in a common scheme or plan." Tenn. Code Ann. § 39-13-204(i)(12) (Supp. 1996). In State v. Bobo, 727 S.W.2d 

945 (Tenn. 1987), this Court examined this particular aggravating circumstance in detail, concluding that it 

HN11[ ] "may be constitutionally applied if the triggering offenses are shown only by convictions that have 

been entered prior to the sentencing hearing at which they are to be utilized." Bobo, 727 S.W.2d at 955. Later, 

this [**39]  Court recognized that "the 'mass murder' aggravating circumstance [is] appropriate for a series 

of separate but related homicides committed as part of a common scheme or plan." State v. Smith, 868 S.W.2d 

561, 582 (Tenn. 1993). 

The defendant argues that the "mass murder" circumstance was not applicable because the trial court had 

previously determined that the murders at the Captain D's and McDonald's were not part of a common 

scheme or plan. The record establishes that the State initially sought to introduce proof of the prior murder 

convictions during the guilt phase of the trial under Tennessee Rule of Evidence 404(b) in an effort to establish 

the defendant's identity as the perpetrator. While determining that the murders at the two restaurants were 

part of a common scheme or plan, the trial court nevertheless excluded the evidence because the probative 

value was outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. See Tenn. R. Evid. 404(b). "[I]t comes down to . . . 

a weighing process," the trial court observed, "[W]hat I would be asking the jury to do would be to hear 

proof about other homicides and then disregard it, and I'm not so sure that is even humanly [**40]  possible 

to do." 

The trial court excluded the evidence during the guilt phase by the application of Rule 404(b). The standard 

for admission of prior convictions during the guilt phase, however, is different than  [*817]  the standard in 

the penalty phase. While the Rules of Evidence govern the former, the latter standard is statutory. 

Tennessee Code Annotated section 39-13-204(c) provides, in pertinent part, as follows: 

HN12[ ] In the sentencing proceeding, evidence may be presented as to any matter that the court deems 

relevant to the punishment and may include, but not be limited to, the nature and circumstances of the 

crime; the defendant's character, background history, and physical condition; any evidence tending to 

establish or rebut the aggravating circumstances enumerated in subsection (i); and any evidence tending 

to establish or rebut any mitigating factors. Any such evidence which the court deems to have probative 

value on the issue of punishment may be received regardless of its admissibility under the rules of evidence; 

provided, that the defendant is accorded a fair opportunity to rebut any hearsay statements so admitted. . . 

. 

Tenn. Code Ann. § 39-13-204(c) [**41]  (2003) (emphasis added). HN13[ ] The rules of evidence, 

therefore, do not limit the admissibility of evidence in a capital sentencing proceeding. State v. Stout, 46 

S.W.3d 689, 702 (Tenn. 2001) (citing Van Tran v. State, 6 S.W.3d 257, 271 (Tenn. 1999)). Our statute empowers 

"'trial judges [with] wider discretion than would normally be allowed under the Tennessee Rules of 

Evidence'" in the admission of evidence during the penalty phase of a capital case. Id. at 703 (quoting State 

v. Sims, 45 S.W.3d 1, 14 (Tenn. 2001). "The Rules of Evidence should not be applied to preclude introduction 

of otherwise reliable evidence that is relevant to the issue of punishment, as it relates to mitigating or 



aggravating circumstances, the nature and circumstances of the particular crime, or the character and 

background of the individual defendant." Sims, 45 S.W.3d at 14. Because the rules of evidence "are too 

restrictive and unwieldy in the arena of capital sentencing," the terms of the statute apply. Id. The question 

here is not whether the Captain D's murder convictions were admissible under Tennessee Rule of Evidence 

404(b), but [**42]  instead whether that evidence was reliable and relevant to one of the aggravating or 

mitigating circumstances. 

Detective Postiglione testified during the penalty phase that the murders of the McDonald's employees 

were similar to those the defendant had committed at the Captain D's. The State submitted that the murders 

qualified, under the statutory definition, as a common scheme or plan, a necessary component of the "mass 

murder" aggravating circumstance. See Tenn. Code Ann. § 39-13-204(i)(12) (Supp. 1996). 

Indeed, each of the murders took place at a franchised, fast food restaurant. There were other similarities. 

The crimes were committed when the restaurants were closed but while the employees remained inside. 

There were robberies at each location. The victims in each instance were moved to an isolated area, 

ordered to the floor, and shot twice in the head. The offenses occurred within thirty-five days of each other. 

While perhaps falling short of the criteria for admission under Rule 404, these comparable elements satisfy 

the terms of the statute. The prior convictions were also admitted to prove that the defendant had previously 

committed felonies [**43]  involving violence. See Tenn. Code Ann. § 39-13-204(i)(2) (Supp. 1996). The 

convictions for the prior murders were reliable and relevant to the issue of punishment in this case. Thus, 

the trial court did not err by allowing proof of the convictions in order to establish the "mass murder" 

aggravating circumstance. 

In State v. Branam, 855 S.W.2d 563, 570 (Tenn. 1993), we held that the trial court  [*818]  should not have 

instructed the jury on the aggravating circumstance under Tennessee Code Annotated section 39-13-

204(i)(6) where there was "not a shred of evidence in the record" to support the claim. Here, however, the 

State presented reliable evidence that the defendant had committed two murders at the Captain D's and 

established that there were significant commonalities with the crimes in this case. Thus, the trial court did 

not err by submitting the "mass murder" aggravating circumstance to the jury. 

VI. Mandatory Review Pursuant to Tenn. Code Ann. § 39-13-206(c)(1) 

HN14[ ] Pursuant to Tennessee Code Annotated section 39-13-206(c)(1), this Court must determine whether 

the evidence supported [**44]  the jury's finding that the aggravating circumstances were established 

beyond a reasonable doubt and that the aggravating circumstances outweighed evidence of mitigating 

circumstances beyond a reasonable doubt. Tenn. Code Ann. § 39-13-206(c)(1)(B)-(C) (2003). The record 

establishes that the jury found that four aggravating circumstances had been proven beyond a reasonable 

doubt: 
(2) The defendant was previously convicted of one (1) or more felonies, other than the present charge, 

whose statutory elements involve the use of violence to the person;  
. . . . 
(6) The murder was committed for the purpose of avoiding, interfering with, or preventing a lawful arrest or 

prosecution of the defendant or another; 
(7) The murder was knowingly committed, solicited, directed, or aided by the defendant, while the defendant 

had a substantial role in committing or attempting to commit, or was fleeing after having a substantial role 

in committing or attempting to commit . . . robbery . . .; 
. . . . 

(12) The defendant committed "mass murder," which is defined as the murder of three (3) or more persons 

within the state of Tennessee within a period [**45]  of forty-eight (48) months, and perpetrated in a similar 



fashion in a common scheme or plan; . . . . 
Tenn. Code Ann. § 39-13-204(i)(2), (6), (7), (12) (Supp. 1996). 

 
A. Prior Violent Felonies 

The evidence adduced during the sentencing hearing established that the defendant had been convicted 

of aggravated robbery in 1984 in Texas; two counts of first degree murder and one count of aggravated 

robbery on April 14, 1999, in Davidson County; and two counts of first degree murder, two counts of 

especially aggravated kidnapping, and one count of aggravated robbery on September 22, 1999, in 

Montgomery County. The parties stipulated that each of these crimes involved the use of violence to the 

person. This evidence is sufficient to establish the prior violent felony aggravating circumstance. 

 
B. Avoiding, Interfering With, or Preventing Lawful Arrest 

Two of his former co-workers testified that the defendant had discussed robbing fast food restaurants as a 

means of making money. Danny Tackett and Jeffrey Potter each recalled that the defendant, who was 

experiencing financial difficulties, talked about robbing a fast food restaurant in the middle [**46]  of the 

night and leaving no witnesses. In our view, this evidence is sufficient to support the application of the 

aggravating circumstance for avoiding, interfering with, or preventing lawful arrest. 

 
 [*819] C. Felony Murder 

The proof at trial overwhelmingly established that the murders were perpetrated during the robbery of the 

McDonald's. Gonzales testified that the defendant demanded cash from the restaurant safe. He stated that 

Santiago gave the money to the defendant, who then stashed it in a bag he was carrying. The defendant 

then ordered the employees to lie on the floor before shooting Santiago, Sewell, and Brown twice in the 

back of the head. Under these circumstances, it is our view that the evidence is sufficient to establish the 

felony murder aggravating circumstance. 

D. "Mass Murder" 

"[F]or this section to apply, the State must show beyond a reasonable doubt (1) that the defendant had 

been convicted of three or more murders, including the one for which he has just been tried, (2) within the 

State of Tennessee, (3) within a period of forty-eight (48) months, (4) perpetrated in a similar fashion, and 

(5) in a common scheme or plan." 

Black, 815 S.W.2d at 183 [**47]  (quoting Bobo, 727 S.W.2d at 956). Little has been written with regard to this 

factor, which is unique to Tennessee. See Bobo, 727 S.W.2d at 951; cf. Ohio Rev. Code Ann. § 2929.04(A)(5) 

(2006) (providing as an aggravating circumstance that the defendant "was convicted of an offense an 

essential element of which was the purposeful killing of or attempt to kill another, or the offense at bar was 

part of a course of conduct involving the purposeful killing of or attempt to kill two or more persons by the 

offender.") This Court has approved of its application in a case where the defendant shot his four children 

in the garage of his residence, see State v. Holton, 126 S.W.3d 845, 865 (Tenn. 2004); in a case where the 

defendant stabbed, shot, and disemboweled his estranged wife and her two children, see Smith, 868 S.W.2d 

at 582; in a case where the defendant killed his girlfriend and her children, see Black, 815 S.W.2d at 184; and 

in a case where the defendant killed three people during the robbery of a restaurant, see State v. Van Tran, 

864 S.W.2d 465, 478 (Tenn. 1993). [**48]  The Court of Criminal Appeals has also approved of the application 

of this aggravating circumstance in a sentence of life without parole where the defendants killed three 



members of the same family at a rest stop. See State v. Howell, 34 S.W.3d 484, 509 (Tenn. Crim. App. 2000). 

In this case, the State points to fourteen similarities between the murders committed in this case and those 

committed at the Captain D's. The murders in each instance were committed at a fast food restaurant on a 

Sunday while the restaurants were closed. The victims in each case were forced to lie on the floor in an 

isolated area of the restaurant. Each victim was shot at least twice with a small caliber weapon. The 

restaurants were locked after the crimes. The murders occurred thirty-five days apart at restaurants only 

three miles apart. Both cash and coins were taken from the safe. Detective Postiglione testified that the 

modus operandi in the two incidents was unlike any other which had been used in Davidson County in at 

least fifteen years. In our view, this evidence was sufficient to establish the "mass murder" aggravating 

circumstance. 

 
E. Weighing of Mitigating Evidence 

In mitigation [**49]  of his offenses, the defendant presented evidence of his unstable childhood, his prior 

brain injuries, and his mental illness. Dr. Amador testified that the defendant had been abandoned by his 

mother at a young age and had lived  [*820]  periodically with his father and grandmother until he was an 

adolescent, when he returned to his mother. Dr. Amador made reference to the defendant's various head 

injuries and made a diagnosis of chronic schizophrenia, paranoid type. It was the opinion of Patricia Allen 

that the defendant's language and thinking fit the profile of a person with acquired brain injuries. Dr. Auble 

diagnosed the defendant with a psychotic disorder and personality changes caused by head trauma. Dr. 

Mayberg, testifying for the State, could find no evidence linking the defendant's brain abnormalities with his 

commission of the murders in this case. 

While the mitigating evidence was compelling, the proof of the aggravating circumstances was simply 

overwhelming. The evidence supports the jury's conclusion that the aggravating circumstances outweighed 

the mitigating circumstances beyond a reasonable doubt. 

 
F. Proportionality Review 

HN15[ ] When a defendant has been sentenced to death,  [**50]  this Court is required to engage in a 

comparative proportionality analysis. Tenn. Code Ann. § 39-13-206(c)(1)(D) (2003). "[C]omparative 

proportionality review 'presumes that the death penalty is not disproportionate to the crime in the traditional 

sense. It purports to inquire instead whether the penalty is nonetheless unacceptable in a particular case 

because disproportionate to the punishment imposed on others convicted of the same crime.'" State v. Bland, 

958 S.W.2d 651, 662 (Tenn. 1997) (quoting Pulley v. Harris, 465 U.S. 37, 42-43, 104 S. Ct. 871, 79 L. Ed. 2d 29 

(1984). "[T]his Court employs the precedent-seeking method of comparative proportionality review, in which 

we compare a case with cases involving similar defendants and similar crimes. . . . [A] death sentence is 

disproportionate if a case is 'plainly lacking in circumstances consistent with those in cases where the death 

penalty has been imposed.'" State v. Davis, 141 S.W.3d 600, 619-20 (Tenn. 2004) (quoting Bland, 958 S.W.2d at 

668). "[T]he pool of cases considered by this Court . . . includes those first degree murder cases 

in [**51]  which the State seeks the death penalty, a capital sentencing hearing is held, and the sentencing 

jury determines whether the sentence should be life imprisonment, life imprisonment without the possibility 

of parole, or death." Id. at 620. 

HN16[ ] While there is no specific formula for comparing similar cases, this Court generally considers the 

following factors regarding the offense: 

(1) the means of death; (2) the manner of death; (3) the motivation for the killing; (4) the place of death; (5) 



the victim's age, physical condition, and psychological condition; (6) the absence or presence of 

premeditation; (7) the absence or presence of provocation; (8) the absence or presence of justification; and 

(9) the injury to and effect upon non-decedent victims. 

Id. This Court must also consider the following factors about the defendant: "(1) prior criminal record, if any; 

(2) age, race, and gender; (3) mental, emotional, and physical condition; (4) role in the murder; (5) 

cooperation with authorities; (6) level of remorse; (7) knowledge of the victim's helplessness; and (8) 

potential for rehabilitation." Id. (citing Bland, 958 S.W.2d at 667; State v. Bane, 57 S.W.3d 411, 428-29 (Tenn. 

2001)). [**52]   

In this case, the defendant confronted three of the victims just outside the McDonald's. A fourth victim was 

inside the restaurant. The defendant demanded the contents of the safe, ordered the victims to the floor of 

a storage area, and murdered three of the four victims  [*821]  execution-style before his gun malfunctioned. 

When shot, the victims were in a defenseless position. The defendant then kicked and stabbed the fourth 

victim repeatedly and discontinued his attack only when the victim pretended to be dead. 

The defendant had previously been convicted of several serious, violent felonies, including first degree 

murder, especially aggravated kidnapping, and aggravated robbery. Although the defendant had a 

tumultuous childhood and experienced mental and behavioral problems from an early age, possibly as the 

result of a brain injury or a congenital disorder, there was some indication of malingering. There was no 

evidence of remorse, cooperation with the authorities, or potential for rehabilitation. 

Sentences of death have been upheld by this Court for this defendant under similar circumstances. In our 

proportionality review in the Captain D's case, this Court concluded that "[w]hile [**53]  no two capital cases 

and no two defendants are alike, we have compared the circumstances of the present case with the 

circumstances of similar first degree murder cases and conclude that the penalty imposed in the present 

case is not disproportionate to the penalty imposed in similar cases." Reid, 91 S.W.3d at 287. In that case, 

the defendant was convicted of two counts of first degree murder and sentenced to death for the killing of 

two Captain D's employees during the robbery of the restaurant. Furthermore, this Court upheld the 

defendant's sentences of death for the robbery, kidnapping, and murder of two Baskin-Robbins employees. 

Reid, 164 S.W.3d at 317-18. The victims in that case were transported to a nearby park and stabbed to death. 

Id. 

This Court has repeatedly affirmed the sentence of death in other cases where the victim was shot to death 

during a robbery. See, e.g., Davis, 141 S.W.3d at 622; State v. Powers, 101 S.W.3d 383, 405 (Tenn. 2003); State 

v. Chalmers, 28 S.W.3d 913, 920 (Tenn. 2000); Van Tran, 864 S.W.2d at 482; State v. Howell, 868 S.W.2d 238, 

262 (Tenn. 1993); [**54]  State v. Harris, 839 S.W.2d 54, 77 (Tenn. 1992); State v. King, 694 S.W.2d 941, 947 (Tenn. 

1985). In addition, we have upheld the death sentence in a number of cases where the defendant has 

presented similar mitigating evidence. See, e.g., Davis, 141 S.W.3d at 621; State v. Middlebrooks, 995 S.W.2d 

550, 565 (Tenn. 1999); Hines, 919 S.W.2d at 584. 

In our view, this case is not "'plainly lacking in circumstances consistent with those in cases where the death 

penalty has been imposed.'" Davis, 141 S.W.3d at 620 (quoting Bland, 958 S.W.2d at 668). Nor can we conclude 

that the sentence of death was imposed in any arbitrary fashion. See Tenn. Code Ann. § 39-13-206(c)(1)(A) 

(2003). In consequence, we hold that the sentences of death were not disproportionate. 

 
Conclusion 

The trial court did not err during the course of the trial by finding the defendant competent to stand trial; by 

admitting testimony that the defendant had possessed weapons similar to those used in the crimes; by 



denying the defendant's motion to limit proof of [**55]  his financial condition; or by denying the defendant's 

motion to recuse. Further, the trial court did not err during the penalty phase by allowing the State to 

introduce evidence of the murders at the Captain D's restaurant to establish the "mass murder" aggravating 

circumstance. Finally, we conclude that the defendant's sentences of death are not disproportionate under 

the mandatory review criteria of Tennessee Code Annotated section 39-13-206(c)(1). 

Accordingly, the judgment of the Court of Criminal Appeals is affirmed. The sentence  [*822]  of death shall 

be carried out on the 3rd day of January, 2008, unless otherwise ordered by this Court or other proper 

authority. It appearing that the defendant is indigent, the costs of this appeal are taxed to the State. 

GARY R. WADE, JUSTICE 

APPENDIX 

(Excerpts from the Court of Criminal Appeals' Decision) 

Defendant Paul Dennis Reid, Jr., was found guilty by a jury of three counts of premeditated murder, three 

counts of felony murder, one count of attempted murder, and one count of especially aggravated robbery. 

The felony murder convictions were merged into the premeditated murder convictions. Thereafter, the 

jury [**56]  sentenced Defendant to death based upon the finding of four aggravating circumstances: the 

defendant had previously been convicted of one or more felonies, other than the present charge, the 

statutory elements of which involve the use of violence to the person; the murders were committed for the 

purpose of avoiding, interfering with or preventing a lawful arrest or prosecution of defendant or another; 

the murder was knowingly committed, solicited, directed or aided by the defendant, while the defendant 

had a substantial role in committing or attempting to commit, or was fleeing after having a substantial role 

in committing or attempting to commit robbery; and the defendant committed "mass murder," which was 

defined at the time of the commission of these offenses as the murder of three or more persons within the 

State of Tennessee within a period of forty-eight months, and perpetrated in a similar fashion in a common 

scheme or plan. Tenn. Code Ann. § 39-13-204(i)(2), (6), (7), and (12)(Supp. 1996). The trial court 

sentenced Defendant to 25 years imprisonment for the attempted murder conviction and 25 years 

imprisonment for the especially aggravated robbery [**57]  conviction, to be served consecutively to each 

other and to Defendant's other non-death sentences. On appeal, Defendant presents forty-seven issues. 

We affirm Defendant's convictions and sentences. 

 
OPINION 

[Deleted: SUMMARY OF FACTS] 

[Deleted: PROOF] 

 
ANALYSIS 

On appeal, Defendant has presented multiple issues, which we will address as follows. 

 [*823]  1. Failure to dismiss indictment because aggravating factors not listed in indictment  

First, Defendant contends that because the indictment returned against him did not set forth the statutory 

aggravating circumstances relied upon by the State in charging him with a capital offense, the indictment 

is faulty and must be dismissed. Defendant acknowledges that he made this same argument in the appeal 

of his Montgomery County convictions and sentences, but it was rejected by this court. Defendant urges 



this court to reconsider its decision in State v. Reid, No. M2001-02753-CCA-R3-DD, 2003 Tenn. Crim. App. LEXIS 

1086, 2003 WL 23021393 (Tenn. Crim. App., Nashville, Dec. 29, 2003). However, the Tennessee Supreme Court 

has released its opinion in the appeal of Defendant's Montgomery County convictions, and the Court 

reaffirmed [**58]  its earlier decisions in holding that "Tennessee's capital sentencing scheme does not 

require that aggravating circumstances be included in an indictment." State v. Reid, 164 S.W.3d 286, 2005 WL 

1219263, * (Tenn. 2005). Accordingly, the trial court did not err in refusing to dismiss the indictment. 

Defendant is not entitled to relief on this issue. 

2. Constitutionality of Tenn Code Ann. Sec. 39-13-204(c)  

Defendant contends that Tennessee Code Annotated Section 39-13-204(c) is unconstitutional. However, 

he has not presented any constitutional challenges to the death penalty statutes that have not been 

previously reviewed and rejected. The death penalty statutes have repeatedly been held constitutional. See 

e.g., State v. Keen, 31 S.W.3d 196, 233 (Tenn. 2000), cert. denied, 532 U.S. 907, 121 S. Ct. 1233, 149 L. Ed. 

2d 142 (2001); State v. Nesbit, 978 S.W.2d 872, 902 (Tenn. 1998), cert. denied, 526 U.S. 1052, 119 S. Ct. 1359, 

143 L. Ed. 2d 520 (1999); [**59]  State v. Vann, 976 S.W.2d 93, 117 (Tenn. 1998), cert. denied, 526 U.S. 1071, 

119 S. Ct. 1467, 143 L. Ed. 2d 551 (1999); State v. Bland, 958 S.W.2d 651, 663 (Tenn. 1997), cert. denied, 523 

U.S. 1083, 118 S. Ct. 1536, 140 L. Ed. 2d 686 (1998); State v. Smith, 857 S.W.2d 1, 21-22 (Tenn.), cert. denied, 

510 U.S. 996, 114 S. Ct. 561, 126 L. Ed. 2d 461 (1993); State v. Bane, 853 S.W.2d 483, 488 (Tenn. 1993), cert. 

denied, 510 U.S. 1040, 114 S. Ct. 682, 126 L. Ed. 2d 650 (1994). 

Defendant relies upon the case of United States v. Fell, 217 F. Supp. 2d 469 (D. Vt. 2002) in arguing that 

Tennessee's capital sentencing scheme, particularly Tennessee Code Annotated Section 39-13-204(c), is 

unconstitutional because it allows the death penalty to be imposed based on evidence that is not subject 

to the guarantees of reliability and trustworthiness required by the due process and confrontation clauses of 

the federal constitution. However, the Supreme Court rejected this argument recently in State v. Berry, 141 

S.W.3d 549 (Tenn. 2004). [**60]  Defendant is not entitled to relief on this issue. 

 
3. Validity of search warrants 

Defendant contends the trial court erred in denying his motion to suppress evidence seized pursuant to 

search warrants 146 and 149. Defendant concedes that this issue has been decided against him adversely 

in State v. Reid, 91 S.W.3d 247 (Tenn. 2002), but makes the argument for the purpose of preserving the issue 

for further review. This court must follow the holding of the Tennessee Supreme Court on this issue as set 

forth in State v. Reid, 91 S.W.3d at 273-76. Defendant is not entitled to relief on this issue. 

 [*824]  4. [Deleted: Evidence of Defendant's financial condition] 

5. [Deleted: Testimony of Mitchell Roberts] 

6. Admissibility of identification testimony  

Next, Defendant contends that the trial court erred in failing to suppress Jose Gonzales' identification of 

him. In his motion to suppress, Defendant argued that the photographic lineup conducted by the 

Metropolitan Nashville Police Department was unduly suggestive and resulted in an unreliable 

identification. In support of his motion, Defendant specifically argued that the background [**61]  of his 

photograph is lighter in color than the other photographs; that Defendant is the only person pictured smiling; 

that Defendant's picture was placed in the center top row where a viewer's eye is naturally drawn; that the 

viewing of the photographic lineup in question occurred at night, unlike the other viewings by Gonzales; 

that the photographic lineup in question was different because Gonzales had viewed all of the previous 



photographs in a book; and that there was a heightened sense of excitement on the night of the lineup in 

question. The trial court rejected each of Defendant's arguments and found that the lineup and the 

procedures used in displaying the lineup were not unduly suggestive. 

The trial court was very specific in its order denying Defendant's motion to suppress Gonzales' identification. 

The court found that although the background of Defendant's picture is lighter than the backgrounds of the 

other five photographs, none of the backgrounds depicted in the pictures are identical. Additionally, the 

court found that the physical characteristics of the men depicted in the photographs are quite similar in 

many respects. As a result, the backgrounds in no way suggest [**62]  that the viewer should select a 

particular photograph. The court also acknowledged that Defendant was the only person who showed his 

teeth in his photograph, but found that each photograph had a unique characteristic. Accordingly, the 

viewer's eye is not attracted to one particular photograph. The court rejected Defendant's contention that 

the placement of Defendant's photograph in the top center of the lineup drew the viewer's eye to that 

particular picture. The court found that Defendant had not presented any evidence to support this 

contention. The court further found that there was no evidence that Gonzales was aware that an arrest was 

imminent and that other witnesses had been called to the police station to view lineups. Additionally, the 

court found that the fact that Gonzales viewed the lineup at night was insignificant. The court determined 

that there had not been a formal or rigid viewing schedule prior to the night in question. Instead, the 

testimony revealed that the prior meetings were arranged as schedules and Gonzales' medical condition 

permitted. The court also found that there was no evidence that Gonzales' identification was affected by 

the viewing of the lineup in [**63]  a different format than before. Although Gonzales may have only viewed 

photographs in a book, his identification was not affected by viewing the six picture photographic lineup 

presented to him. The court also rejected Defendant's contention that a physical lineup would have been 

more trustworthy and should have been conducted. The court noted that Gonzales had never been asked 

to view a physical lineup in the past, and the court opined that a physical lineup would have drawn more 

attention to the importance of that particular viewing. The court also surmised that the police did not have 

adequate time to locate men who had similar physical characteristics to conduct  [*825]  a physical lineup 

given all of the circumstances. Based on the foregoing, the court concluded that the lineup and the 

procedures utilized in displaying the lineup were not unduly suggestive. 

This court first notes that the findings of fact made by the trial court at the hearing on a motion to suppress 

are binding upon this court unless the evidence contained in the record preponderates against them. State 

v. Ross, 49 S.W.3d 833, 839 (Tenn. 2001). Absent a showing by Defendant that the evidence 

preponderates [**64]  against the judgment of the trial court, this court must defer to the ruling of the trial 

court. State v. Cribbs, 967 S.W.2d 773, 795 (Tenn.), cert. denied, 525 U.S. 932, 119 S. Ct. 343, 142 L. Ed. 2d 

283 (1998).  

As the trial court correctly espoused, the United States Supreme Court established a two-part test to assess 

the validity of a pretrial identification in Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188, 199-200, 93 S. Ct. 375, 34 L. Ed. 2d 401 

(1972). Specifically, the court must determine (1) whether the procedure used to obtain the identification 

was unduly suggestive and (2) if the identification was unduly suggestive, the court must determine, under 

the totality of the circumstances, whether the identification is nevertheless reliable. Id. After a review of the 

record, this court must concur with the trial court's findings that the lineup and the procedures used in the 

lineup were not unduly suggestive. The evidence does not preponderate against the findings of the trial 

court. Defendant is not entitled to any relief on this issue. 

 
7. Court hours 

Defendant contends that the trial court erred in holding "late night" court sessions in [**65]  this case. Prior 



to trial, Defendant filed a "Motion for Reasonable Court Hours During Jury Selection and Trial." Defendant 

requested that court hours be limited to 9:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. The trial court ruled that the court hours 

would be the same as those held in Defendant's prior Davidson County case, in which Defendant was tried 

and convicted of the murders of two Captain D's employees. The following schedule was followed by the 

trial court: 

JURY SELECTION: 
May 15: 9:00 a.m. - Court called into session 
7:15 p.m. - Court adjourned for the day 
May 16: 9:00 a.m. - Court resumed 
6:45 p.m. - Court adjourned for the day 
May 17: 9:00 a.m. - Court resumed 
8:00 p.m. - Court adjourned for the day 
May 18: 9:00 a.m. - Court resumed 
5:05 p.m. - Court adjourned for the day 
May 19: 9:00 a.m. - Court resumed 
The record does not reflect the time court was adjourned. The trial court asserts that court was adjourned 

at 4:00 p.m. 
THREE DAY BREAK BETWEEN JURY SELECTION AND TRIAL 

TRIAL 
May 22: 8:30 a.m. - Trial proceedings began; jury-out proceedings 
10:00 a.m. - Jury brought into court 
7:30 p.m. - Jury excused for the day 

7:55 p.m. - Court [**66]  adjourned for the day 
May 23: 8:30 a.m. - Court resumed 
7:30 p.m.- Jury excused for the day 
7:50 p.m. - Court adjourned for the day 
May 24: 8:30 a.m. - Court resumed 
4:26 p.m. - Jury retired to jury room for deliberations 
8:37 p.m. - Jury excused for the day 
8:39 p.m. - Court adjourned for the day 
May 25: 8:30 a.m. - Court resumed 
8:53 a.m. - Jury retired to jury room for deliberations 
8:50 p.m. - Jury returned to court to announce verdict 
8:56 p.m. - Jury excused for the day 
9:05 p.m. - Court adjourned for the day 
May 26: 8:30 a.m. - Court resumed; jury-out hearing conducted 
10:34 a.m.- Jury returned to open court for penalty phase testimony 
7:25 p.m. - Jury excused for the day 
7:55 p.m. - Court adjourned for the day 
May 27: 8:30 a.m. - Court resumed; jury-out hearing conducted 

 [*826]  8:42 a.m. - Jury returned to open court and penalty phase resumed 
2:42 p.m. - Jury retired to the jury room for deliberations on the sentence 
6:35 p.m. - Jury returned to open court and announced its sentence 

In State v. Parton, 817 S.W.2d 28 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1991), this court addressed the issue of "late night" court 

sessions as follows: 



It [**67]  is clear in this state that late night court sessions should be scheduled "only when unusual 

circumstances require it." [State v.] McMullin, 801 S.W.2d [826], 832 [(Tenn. Crim. App. 1990)]. Regardless 

of whether counsel or any juror objects, the late night sessions should be avoided; and they must be justified 

because of unusual circumstances. If the requisite unusual circumstances do exist and late night sessions 

are scheduled because of necessity, good practice would be to also let the record affirmatively reflect that 

all counsel and all jurors expressly agree. But the threshold question which must always be determined by 

the court is whether the circumstances justify the unusual session. 

Id. at 33. 

In his appeal of his convictions and sentences of the Captain D' murders, Defendant argued that the trial 

court committed reversible error by holding late night court sessions. In that case, this court rejected 

Defendant's arguments. This court specifically found that the record did not support Defendant's argument 

that the court kept excessively late hours during trial, and the Tennessee Supreme Court affirmed this 

court's decision and published [**68]  that portion of the opinion as an appendix to its opinion. State v. Reid, 

91 S.W.3d 247, 288, 300-01 (Tenn. 2002).  

This court must conclude in this case, as well, that the record does not support the argument that the court 

kept excessively late night hours. In support of its decision to extend the court day beyond eight hours, the 

trial court explained that this case was a capital murder case that had received extensive media attention. 

As a result, the court had gone outside of the county to secure a jury, and the jury was required to be 

sequestered and "locked away from family, friends and employment until the conclusion of the trial." We do 

not find that the trial court abused its discretion in extending the court hours in this case beyond eight hours 

per day. Defendant is not entitled to relief on this issue. 

8. [Deleted: Recusal] 

 
9. Testimony of Joe Ingle 

At Defendant's competency hearing, Defendant called Reverend Joe Ingle as a witness. Reverend Ingle 

has served as Defendant's pastor since June 1997, the month he was arrested. The trial court ruled that 

Reverend Ingle could not testify as to his conversations with Defendant because [**69]  Defendant had not 

waived his priest-parishoner privilege. The court allowed Reverend Ingle to testify as to his general 

impressions of Defendant. Defendant asserts that the trial court erred in limiting Reverend Ingle's testimony. 

Specifically, Defendant contends that because he was incompetent, and should have been presumed 

incompetent by the trial court, he was also incompetent to assert the priest-parishoner privilege. 

Accordingly, Reverend Ingle's testimony should not have been limited.  

In the appeal of his Montgomery County convictions, Defendant argued that the trial court erred in excluding 

the testimony of Reverend Ingle. Our Supreme Court rejected Defendant's arguments as follows: 

In our view, the trial court did not err in excluding the testimony. First, our conclusion that a defendant bears 

the burden  [*827]  of establishing his or her incompetency necessarily means that he or she has not been 

found to be incompetent before or during the competency proceeding itself. As a result, nothing prevents a 

defendant from invoking an applicable privilege during a competency proceeding as a matter of law. 

Moreover, the trial court is free to reconsider the issue of the defendant's [**70]  invocation of privileges 

while evidence of the defendant's mental status is presented during the hearing by both the defense and 

prosecution. 
Second, a defendant's right to present evidence to meet the burden of proof does not eliminate the trial 

court's discretion in determining relevance and materiality of the evidence. Here, the defendant presented 



extensive expert testimony to show that he was not competent to stand trial. The expert witnesses related 

the basis of their opinions, which included analysis of the defendant's family background, history of head 

injuries, and mental illness. . . . In sum, the defendant's exercise of his privileges did not prevent the trial 

court from fully considering the material evidence and making a thorough assessment of the relevant issues 

pertaining to the defendant's competency to stand trial. Accordingly, we conclude that the trial court did not 

err in excluding the testimony of the witnesses. 

State v. Reid, 164 S.W.3d 286, 2005 WL 1219263, at *    . After a review of the evidence in this case, and based 

upon the above-quoted rationale of the Supreme Court, we conclude that the trial court did not err in 

limiting [**71]  the testimony of Reverend Ingle. Defendant is not entitled to relief on this issue. 

10. Testimony of Maureen McGinley 

Defendant sought to introduce the testimony of Maureen McGinley at the competency hearing. Ms. 

McGinley served as Defendant's jury consultant during the Captain D's murder trial in April 1999. Ms. 

McGinley had not had any contact with Defendant following that trial. Yet, Defendant wanted to elicit 

testimony from her regarding his actions during April 1999 to buttress his contention that he was 

incompetent to stand trial in this case. 

As this court has explained, a hearing to determine if a defendant is competent to stand trial does not focus 

on the defendant's guilt or innocence or even the defendant's mental condition at the time of the crime. 

Instead, a competency hearing is "a very narrow inquiry aimed at determining whether one who is charged 

with a criminal offense is presently competent to stand trial." State v. Stacy, 556 S.W.2d 552, 553 (Tenn. Crim. 

App. 1977). The testimony of Maureen McGinley as to Defendant's conduct during his April 1999 trial has 

not been shown to be relevant to the issue of Defendant's competency at the time [**72]  of the hearing in 

this case. Moreover, a memorandum authored by Ms. McGinley was admitted into the record and 

considered by the trial court. The memorandum set forth Defendant's behavior during his April 1999 trial. 

Defendant is not entitled to relief on this issue. 

11. Testimony of Carla Crocker 

Defendant also contends that the trial court erred in excluding the testimony of Carla Crocker, the Public 

Affairs Officer for the Davidson County Sheriff's Office, from his competency hearing. Ms. Crocker would 

have testified that in March 1999, Defendant attempted to call a press conference in which he intended to 

discuss a dispute with the sheriff's office involving an allegation that a chicken bone had been found in his 

cell. In excluding Ms. Crocker's testimony, the court concluded that (1)  [*828]  the event was too remote in 

time and was therefore not relevant and (2) the court had prevented the press conference by issuing a gag 

order. Defendant admitted that Ms. Crocker had not had any contact with Defendant since the incident in 

March 1999. 

We conclude that Ms. Crocker's testimony was not relevant to Defendant's current competency. See Tenn. 

R. Evid. 401. We cannot determine [**73]  that the trial court erred in excluding the testimony of Carla 

Crocker. Defendant is not entitled to relief on this issue. 

12. Denial of funds for evaluation of Defendant by Dr. Xavier Amador 

As has been previously discussed, during the competency proceedings Defendant moved to have Dr. 

Xavier Amador testify on Defendant's behalf. The court denied the request. The court had previously 

approved funds for Dr. Amador to evaluate Defendant's competency, but the court rescinded its previous 

ruling. The court explained that it had previously approved funds in the abstract for Dr. Amador, to keep a 

monitor on Defendant's condition, but the monitoring had not occurred. Dr. Amador had not seen Defendant 



in six months. Defendant had been evaluated by a defense expert, would be evaluated by an expert on 

behalf of the State, and would be evaluated by an independent expert. Accordingly, the court determined 

that there was no reason to have Dr. Amador evaluate Defendant currently. The court further explained that 

time was of the essence. The court also noted that Supreme Court Rule 13 did not permit it to hire a second 

expert, especially an out-of-state expert.  

Defendant argues that [**74]  the trial court's ruling "might have made sense" if the court had rendered a 

decision on the testimony of Dr. Auble, Dr. Martell, and Dr. Caruso. However, Defendant asserts that once 

the court secured a second independent evaluation of Defendant, the court was obligated to provide funds 

to enable Dr. Amador, who had extensive experience with Defendant, to perform an evaluation. Defendant 

cites to no case law to support his assertion that the court was obligated to provide funds for Dr. Amador 

once the court sought a second independent evaluation. Defendant further contends that the trial court's 

ruling constitutes a denial of his right to call witnesses on his own behalf, as well as his rights to due process 

and a fair trial. 

Defendant's assertions are not supported by statute or case law. Tennessee Code Annotated Section 40-14-207 

provides that in capital cases where a defendant has been found indigent, the court may, in its discretion, 

determine that expert services are necessary to ensure that the constitutional rights of the defendant are 

protected. The Supreme Court has analyzed section 40-14-207 of the Tennessee Code and [**75]  has held 

that it does not entitle a defendant to an expert of his choice. Rather, an indigent defendant must be 

provided with the tools necessary to present an adequate defense. State v. Smith, 857 S.W.2d 1, 12 (Tenn. 

1993). The court provided funds for Defendant to obtain the services of Dr. Pamela Auble. Dr. Auble, unlike 

Dr. Amador, had maintained a continuous relationship with Defendant. Moreover, Dr. Amador's practice 

was in New York, and Defendant did not demonstrate the need for an out-of-state expert as contemplated 

by Supreme Court Rule 13.  

Based on the foregoing, we conclude Defendant is not entitled to relief on this issue. 

 [*829]  13. Denial of continuance of competency hearing  

As has been previously set forth, Defendant contends that the trial court erred in denying his request to 

defer the testimony of state expert Dr. Daniel Martell until such time as he had prepared his written report 

and defense counsel had the opportunity to review the report with the aid of their experts. Specifically, 

Defendant asserts that he was given insufficient time to prepare for the cross-examination of Dr. Martell. 

The circumstances surrounding Dr. Martell's evaluation [**76]  and testimony are as follows. Dr. Martell, 

who lives in California, arrived in Nashville on March 14, 2000, and evaluated Defendant and his 

competency to stand trial that night. Dr. Martell had actually traveled to Nashville to participate in a 

deposition in an unrelated capital case. The trial court contacted the federal judge who was supervising the 

other matter and requested that the State be permitted to "borrow" Dr. Martell so he could present testimony 

in this case during a lunch break. Dr. Martell did not have time to prepare a written report of his findings 

prior to his testimony. As a result, defense counsel requested that Dr. Martell's testimony be deferred until 

he could prepare a written report and counsel had been given adequate time to review the report with the 

aid of experts. The trial court refused to delay Dr. Martell's testimony. In denying Defendant's request, the 

court noted that exigent circumstances existed due to the filing of the competency motion so close in time 

to the selection of the jury. The court acknowledged that the defense did not have much time to prepare for 

Dr. Martell's testimony, but stated that the State did not have much time to prepare either.  

 [**77]  Defendant asserts that his counsel was not given an opportunity to investigate the evidence 

provided by Dr. Martell prior to its admission. Defendant notes that to provide effective representation, 

counsel must conduct appropriate factual and legal investigations. Nichols v. State, 90 S.W.3d 576, 587 (Tenn. 



2002); Baxter v. Rose, 523 S.W.2d 930, 935 (Tenn. 1975). While counsel was not provided with Dr. Martell's 

report prior to his testimony, counsel received Dr. Martell's notes from the evaluation and met with Dr. 

Martell about his findings. Further, Defendant has not demonstrated any harm resulting from the court's 

ruling on this issue. Given the unique circumstances surrounding Dr. Martell's evaluation and testimony, 

we determine that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying a continuance of the competency 

hearing. 

14. Testimony of Dr. Daniel Martell as expert in the field of psychology 

Defendant contends that the trial court erred in allowing Dr. Martell to testify as an expert in the field of 

forensic neuropsycholgy because he is not licensed to practice psychology in the State of Tennessee. 

During cross-examination, [**78]  defense counsel asked Dr. Martell if he had evaluated Defendant with 

regard to the issue of competency as a psychologist. Dr. Martell responded that he had. The trial court 

concluded, however, that Dr. Martell had performed a forensic evaluation of Defendant's competence and 

had not engaged in the practice of psychology as defined by Tennessee Code Annotated Section 63-11-

211(b)(5).  

The Supreme Court addressed the same issue in Coe v. State, 17 S.W.3d 193 (Tenn. 2000). The Supreme 

Court determined in that case that Dr. Martell had performed a forensic evaluation, which did not constitute 

the practice of psychology under Tennessee Code Annotated Section 63-11-203(a)  [*830]  and therefore no 

authorization was required by Tennessee Code Annotated Section 63-11-211(b)(5). Id. at 224-25. In reaching its 

decision, the Supreme Court explained that the only purpose of Dr. Martell's evaluation was to determine 

whether Coe was competent . Dr. Martell's evaluation "was not for the purpose of 'preventing or eliminating' 

any psychological illness of [Coe] and 'enhancing' his mental [**79]  health. Therefore, the performance of 

the forensic evaluation did not constitute the practice of psychology." Id. at 225. The same is true in this 

case. Although Dr. Martell testified that his examination of Defendant was "the practice of psychology," the 

purpose of Dr. Martell's examination of Defendant was to determine his competency to stand trial. The 

examination was not for the purpose of preventing or eliminating any psychological illness of Defendant 

and enhancing his mental health. See Tenn. Code Ann. § 63-11-203(a) defining the "practice of psychologist." 

Accordingly, Dr. Martell's evaluation did not constitute the practice of psychology. The trial court did not err 

in allowing Dr. Martell to testify as an expert witness. Defendant is not entitled to relief on this issue. 

15. Second court-ordered evaluation of defendant and monitoring by Dr. Farooque 

Following testimony by Defendant's expert, the State's expert, and the court-appointed mental health expert 

at the competency hearing, the court ordered a second evaluation of Defendant. The court found the 

testimony of the three experts to be conflicting and determined [**80]  that a second evaluation of 

Defendant by a court-appointed expert was necessary. The court based its reasoning in part on the fact 

that it questioned the credibility of Dr. Caruso, the independent expert it had previously appointed. 

Dr. Caruso's written report stated that he had to remind Defendant during his evaluation that the insanity 

defense was available to him. However, Defendant was being evaluated for the purposes of competency 

to stand trial, not insanity at the time of the crimes. Following his testimony, Dr. Caruso sent a fax to the 

court explaining that he may have unintentionally misstated Defendant's knowledge of his charges in his 

report and in his testimony before the court. The court found that Dr. Caruso's report lacked credibility due 

to the fact that his finding that Defendant was unaware of the charges against him could not be verified by 

the tape recordings Dr. Caruso made, as the tape recorder had malfunctioned during that portion of the 

interview. Additionally, the court questioned Dr. Caruso's credibility because he submitted a bill to the court 

in an amount of $ 20,250 for his evaluation of Defendant, when he had agreed to accept a fee of $ 7,500. 

Tennessee Code Annotated Section 33-7-301 [**81]  sets forth the procedure a court must undertake in 



appointing a competency expert. The Code, however, sets forth no procedure for the court to follow when 

it questions the credibility of the expert it has appointed under the Code. It is quite obvious that the court 

questioned the credibility of the expert it had appointed. Defendant asserts that because Tennessee Code 

Annotated Section 33-7-301 does not specifically provide that the court may order a second evaluation, the 

court erred in doing so. However, we cannot agree. 

Given the circumstances of this case, we find it was within the trial court's discretion to order a second 

evaluation. Defendant surmises that the court ordered the second evaluation because the court did not 

approve of the opinion given by Dr. Caruso. However, the court explained  [*831]  that it had absolutely no 

interest in trying any incompetent defendant, especially one whose life was at stake. The court, however, 

felt it was necessary for Defendant to undergo a second evaluation, given the conflicting testimony by the 

three experts. Moreover, Dr. Caruso had opined that although he believed Defendant was currently 

incompetent, he may become [**82]  competent with the use of medication. Therefore, the court instructed 

that the second evaluation include recommendations regarding the need for medication. Given these 

circumstances and the fact that the court questioned the credibility and accuracy of the court-appointed 

expert, the court did not err in ordering a second evaluation of Defendant.  

Similarly, Defendant argues that the trial court erred in designating Dr. Rokeya Farooque to monitor 

Defendant's competency following the competency hearing. Defendant submits that the trial court had no 

legal authority to appoint an independent evaluator after it appointed Dr. Caruso. However, as set forth 

above, given the circumstances of this case, we find no error in the continued monitoring of Defendant by 

Dr. Farooque and the MTMHI forensic staff. As the trial court explained in its order denying Defendant's 

motion for new trial, the court had not had any discussions with Dr. Carsuo concerning continued monitoring 

of Defendant following the competency hearing. Although Dr. Caruso had agreed to evaluate Defendant 

for a fee of $ 7,500, he sent a request for payment on the amount of $ 20,250. As a result, the trial court 

determined that [**83]  it should not employ a private psychiatrist when a qualified forensic team from a 

state hospital was available. Defendant has failed to set forth any prejudice that resulted from the trial 

court's order that Dr. Farooque monitor Defendant's competence throughout trial. 

Defendant is not entitled to relief on this issue. 

16. Rebuttal testimony of Dr. Caruso 

Defendant submits that the trial court erred in refusing to allow Dr. Caruso to offer rebuttal testimony 

following the testimony by the evaluation team as to its evaluation of Defendant. However, the court allowed 

Dr. Auble, Defendant's designated expert, to testify on rebuttal. Moreover, the court had stated in open 

court and through its written orders that it questioned the credibility and accuracy of Dr. Caruso and his 

findings.  

The issue of whether to allow rebuttal testimony, as well as the scope of that testimony, lies within the 

sound discretion of the trial court. State v. Thompson, 43 S.W.3d 516 (Tenn. Crim. App. 2000). The court's 

ruling on this issue will not be overturned absent a clear abuse of discretion. State v. Kendricks, 947 S.W.2d 

875, 884 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1996). [**84]  The trial court found that Defendant was not prejudiced by the court's 

refusal to allow the rebuttal testimony of Dr. Caruso, and Defendant has failed to show on appeal how he 

was prejudiced by the court's ruling that Dr. Caruso could not testify in rebuttal to the testimony of the 

evaluation team from MTMHI. After a review of the record, we cannot determine that the trial court abused 

its discretion in refusing to allow Dr. Caruso to testify on rebuttal at the competency hearing. Defendant is 

not entitled to relief on this issue.  

17. [Deleted: Competency of Defendant to stand trial] 



18. Defense counsel's motion to withdraw 

Following the competency hearing, defense counsel moved for withdrawal of further  [*832]  representation 

of Defendant. Defense counsel asserted that they could not effectively represent Defendant because he 

did not trust them and believed that they were trying to kill him. The trial court denied the motion. The trial 

court noted that Defendant's main complaint with his attorneys was that they had focused too much time 

on the competency and penalty phases, rather than the guilt phase. The court determined that any attorneys 

in their stead would pursue [**85]  the same strategy. The court also noted that it was not uncommon for 

defendants to disagree and be dissatisfied with their attorneys. The court pointed out that Defendant's 

attorneys were very well acquainted with the facts of the case and Defendant's mental health and family 

history. Accordingly, the court found that Defendant's current attorneys were uniquely qualified to represent 

Defendant in this capital murder trial. The court determined that the replacement of Defendant's attorneys 

was not warranted and denied the motion. 

Tennessee Code Annotated Section 40-14-205 provides that the court may allow an appointed attorney to 

withdraw upon good cause shown. The trial court's decision on withdrawal in a pending criminal matter 

rests within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of 

discretion. State v. Branam, 855 S.W.2d 563, 566 (Tenn. 1993); State v. Russell, 10 S.W.3d 270, 274 (Tenn. Crim. 

App. 1999). At the time of Defendant's trial, Tennessee's Code of Professional Responsibility was in effect. 

See Tenn. S. Ct. R. 8 (2000). Under the Code of Professional Responsibility,  [**86]  mandatory withdrawal 

of an attorney from representation is required when: 
(1) The lawyer knows or it is obvious that the client is bringing the legal action, conducting the defense, or 

asserting a position in the litigation, or is otherwise having steps taken for the client, merely for the purpose 

of harassing or maliciously injuring any person. 
(2) The lawyer knows or it is obvious that continued employment will result in violation of a Disciplinary 

Rule. 
(3) The lawyer's mental or physical condition renders it unreasonably difficult for the lawyer to carry out the 

employment effectively. 
(4) The lawyer is discharged by his client. 

Tenn. S. Ct. R. 8, DR 2-110(B). None of the instances requiring mandatory withdrawal is present in this 

case. Accordingly, mandatory withdrawal was not required. Defendant asserts, however, that permissive 

withdrawal was warranted by DR 2-110(C)(1)(d), which provides that counsel may request withdrawal 

because the client "[b]y other conduct renders it unreasonably difficult for the lawyer to carry out the 

employment effectively." Tenn. S. Ct. R. 8, DR 2-110(C)(1)(d). On appeal, Defendant contends that his 

relationship with his attorneys [**87]  was compromised to a degree that made counsel's effective 

representation of him impossible. As a result, Defendant contends that the trial court erred in denying 

counsel's motion to withdraw. We conclude, however, that the trial court did not err in denying counsel's 

motion to withdraw, given the circumstances of this case. 

In this case, the court found that counsel were uniquely qualified to represent Defendant. The Tennessee 

Supreme Court has stated that " [t]he advantage of familiarity with [a] case will generally outweigh any 

possible advantages to be gained in the fresh viewpoint of successor counsel." Parton v. State, 2 Tenn. Crim. 

App. 626, 455 S.W.2d 645, 650 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1970). Defense counsel's motion to withdraw was made with 

two weeks remaining until jury  [*833]  selection was set to begin. Defendant would have been adversely 

affected if the court had allowed withdrawal of counsel at such a late date. Moreover, as the trial court 

noted, the appointment of new counsel would not have resolved the issues Defendant had with his attorneys 

concerning what he believed was his best trial strategy.  

We further note that subsequent to Defendant's trial, Tennessee [**88]  adopted the Rules of Professional 

Conduct. See Tenn. S. Ct. R. 8, RPC (2003). Under the Rules of Professional Conduct, withdrawal of 



representation by counsel is mandatory where continued representation will result in a violation of the Rules 

of Professional Conduct or other law, where counsel's physical or mental condition materially affects his 

ability to represent the client, or where counsel is discharged by the client. Tenn. S. Ct. R. 8, RPC 1.16. 

Further, counsel may withdraw from representation of a client if the withdrawal can be accomplished without 

material adverse effect on the interests of the client, or if: the client persists in a course of action that the 

lawyer reasonably believes is criminal or fraudulent; the client uses the lawyer's services to perpetrate a 

crime or fraud; the client insists upon pursuing an objective that the lawyer considers repugnant or 

imprudent; the client fails substantially to fulfill an obligation to the lawyer regarding the lawyer's services 

and the client has been given reasonable warning that the lawyer will withdraw unless the obligation is 

fulfilled; the representation will result in an unanticipated and substantial financial burden [**89]  on the 

lawyer or has been rendered unreasonably difficult by the client; other good cause for withdrawal exists; or 

the client agrees to the withdrawal of the lawyer in writing. Id. The Rules of Professional Conduct were not 

in effect until March 1, 2003, and thus were not applicable at the time of Defendant's trial. However, we 

determine that even if this case were remanded for a new trial and tried under the new Rules of Professional 

Conduct, mandatory withdrawal would not be required, given the same set of circumstances. Moreover, 

permissive withdrawal of defense counsel in this instance would have resulted in a material adverse effect 

on the interests of Defendant. Accordingly, assuming arguendo that it was error on the part of the trial court 

to deny counsel's motion to withdraw, such error would be harmless in light of the new Rules of Professional 

Conduct. A new trial would not give Defendant any benefit. As the trial court noted, appointment of new 

counsel would not have resolved the issues Defendant had with defense counsel. As a result of the 

foregoing, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying defense counsel's motion to withdraw. 

19. "Religious  [**90]   tests" in voir dire 

Defendant contends that the exclusion of jurors who express religious objections to the death penalty 

constitutes a religious test, which is prohibited by Article I, Section 6 of the Tennessee Constitution. Defendant 

filed a motion to prohibit the use of this "religious test," which the trial court denied. Defendant acknowledges 

that the Tennessee Supreme Court has held that the exclusion of jurors who express religious objections 

to the death penalty is not a religious test, per se, citing State v. Jones, 789 S.W.2d 545, 547 (Tenn. 1990).  

Moreover, the Supreme Court affirmed this court' s holding in defendant's prior appeal of the Captain D's 

murders in State v. Reid, that the exclusion of prospective jurors by a trial court because of their moral or 

religious based reluctance to impose  [*834]  the death penalty is not error. State v. Reid, 91 S.W.3d 247, 289-

90 (Tenn. 2002). "In this regard, potential jurors are removed for cause not because of their religious opinion 

or affiliation but because the jurors are unable to view the proceedings impartially and perform their duties 

in accordance with the juror's oath." Id. at 290. [**91]  Questioning of a juror with regard to the death penalty 

does not amount to a religious test. Id. (citing Wolf v. Sundquist, 955 S.W.2d 626, 631 (Tenn. App.), perm. app. 

denied, (Tenn. 1997). Defendant acknowledges that the Tennessee Supreme Court has rejected this 

argument, but makes the argument in order to preserve it for later review. See State v. Edwin Gomez, 163 

S.W.3d 632, 2005 WL 856848, *13 (Tenn. 2005)("Indeed, a defendant is never precluded from raising an 

issue simply because a prior decision has rejected it."). Defendant is not entitled to relief on this issue. 

20. Instruction to venire that some aggravating factors relate to circumstances of the victim 

Defendant contends that the trial court erred when it stated to the first panel of potential jurors, in giving 

general instructions about the nature of a capital case, that aggravating circumstances are specifically 

defined by the legislature and "relate to circumstances about the crime or circumstances about the victim." 

Defendant asserts that this statement could have misled the jury into believing [**92]  that victim impact 

evidence constituted an aggravating circumstance. Defendant admits that several of the aggravating 

circumstances relate to circumstances of the victim. However, Defendant submits that the court must state 

the law fully and accurately, and this statement by the court may have misled the jury. Defendant further 



admits that the trial court later properly instructed the jury that victim impact evidence is not the same thing 

as an aggravating circumstance. However, Defendant submits that the proper instruction only served to 

heighten the jury's confusion.  

Defendant failed to enter a contemporaneous objection to the trial court's statement; therefore, this issue 

is waived for purposes of appeal. Tenn. R. App. P. 36(a). Moreover, in the same general instruction to the 

panel of potential jurors, the trial court instructed the jury that they must rely on the aggravating 

circumstances delineated by the legislature, that they could not make up their own aggravating 

circumstances, that the court would tell them what the potential aggravating circumstances were, that they 

would have to unanimously agree that the aggravating circumstances existed, and they would have to 

agree [**93]  that the aggravating circumstances existed beyond a reasonable doubt. This court cannot 

determine that the trial court's statement misled the jury. Defendant is not entitled to relief on this issue. 

21. Questioning of potential juror regarding her opinion of mental health as mitigation evidence in 

the case of State v. Coe 

Defendant next contends that the trial court erred in refusing to allow questioning of a potential juror on her 

opinion as to whether she believed it was proper for the attorneys who had represented capital defendant 

Robert Glen Coe to claim that he was mentally incompetent as a defense to his impending execution. In 

response to the question, the potential juror responded: "I didn't think anything about that because I didn't 

know anything about that." The State then objected to further questioning on the grounds of relevancy. The 

court sustained the objection. 

 [*835]  Defendant contends that as a result of the court's limitation on questioning of the potential juror, 

Defendant was not able to conduct the voir dire in such a manner that would enable him to determine if a 

potential juror would consider, in good faith, the mitigating circumstance of mental health.  [**94]  However, 

the court did not limit counsel's ability to question the potential juror on whether she would consider mental 

health as a mitigating circumstance. Instead, the court refused to allow questioning of the juror on a subject 

about which the juror had advised she had no knowledge. The court's limitation on defense counsel's 

questioning of the juror about her knowledge and opinion of the Coe case did not impede Defendant's ability 

to determine if the potential juror would consider, in good faith, the mitigating circumstance of mental health.  

The control of voir dire proceedings rests within the sound discretion of the trial court, and this court will not 

interfere with the exercise of this discretion unless clear abuse appears on the face of the record. State v. 

Howell, 868 S.W.2d 238, 247 (Tenn. 1993), cert. denied, 510 U.S. 1215, 114 S. Ct. 1339, 127 L. Ed. 2d 687 

(1994). Defendant has failed to demonstrate an abuse of discretion by the trial court on this issue, and 

therefore is not entitled to relief on this issue. 
 

22. Failure to excuse juror Judy Reynolds for cause 

Defendant asserts that the trial court should have excluded [**95]  juror Judy Reynolds for cause. In 

response to the juror questionnaire, Ms. Reynolds stated that she strongly favored the death penalty and 

that she would have difficulty in imposing a sentence of life or life without the possibility of parole in a murder 

case. Ms. Reynolds explained that if a person was in his right mind and knew what he was doing, then she 

would be in favor of imposing the death penalty. However, she also explained that she would listen to the 

facts of the case, and if the aggravating factors did not outweigh the mitigating factors, she could consider 

both the sentences of life and life without the possibility of parole. She further explained that she could 

follow the law and her oath as a juror.  

Defense counsel also asked Ms. Reynolds about her views on the death penalty, and she again explained 



that she was in favor of the death penalty. However, upon further questioning by defense counsel, Ms. 

Reynolds stated that she would consider mitigating factors in making a decision on the appropriate 

sentence and would consider the sentences of life and life without the possibility of parole. In response to 

questioning by the State, Ms. Reynolds again confirmed that she [**96]  would listen to all of the evidence, 

weigh both aggravating and mitigating circumstances, and consider sentences of life and life without the 

possibility of parole. Defense counsel did not challenge juror Reynolds immediately following her individual 

voir dire. However, the defense did later challenge Ms. Reynolds. At that time, the trial court denied the 

challenge for cause. The trial court ruled that Ms. Reynolds could follow her oath as a juror and determined 

that Ms. Reynolds would be an appropriate juror for the case. 

In determining when a prospective juror may be excused for cause because of his or her views on the death 

penalty, the standard is "whether the juror's views would prevent or substantially impair the performance of 

his duties as a juror in accordance with his instructions and his oath." State v. Austin, 87 S.W.3d 447, 472-73 

(Tenn. 2002) (citing Wainwright v. Witt, 469 U.S. 412, 424, 105 S. Ct.  [*836]  844, 83 L. Ed. 2d 841 (1985)). "[T]his 

standard likewise does not require that a juror's biases be proved with 'unmistakable clarity.' " Id. at 473. 

However, the trial judge must have the "definite impression" that a prospective [**97]  juror could not follow 

the law. State v. Hutchison, 898 S.W.2d 161, 167 (Tenn. 1994)(citing Wainwright v. Witt, 469 U.S. at 425-26, 

105 S. Ct. at 853). Finally, the trial court's finding of bias of a juror because of his or her views concerning 

the death penalty are accorded a presumption of correctness, and the defendant must establish by 

convincing evidence that the trial court's determination was erroneous before an appellate court will 

overturn that decision. State v. Alley, 776 S.W.2d 506, 518 (Tenn. 1989), cert. denied, 493 U.S. 1036, 110 S. 

Ct. 758, 107 L. Ed. 2d 775 (1990). 

After reviewing the answers and responses of Judy Reynolds, we conclude that the trial court did not err in 

failing to exclude her for cause. Ms. Reynolds was extensively questioned as to whether she could apply 

the law to the evidence and consider all forms of punishment in this case. She responded that she would 

be able to do so. Defendant is not entitled to relief on this issue. 

23. Questioning of prospective jurors as to whether they believed the death penalty is a "moral 

function" of the government 

During voir dire,  [**98]  the State asked potential jurors if they believed the death penalty was 

an"appropriate and moral function of the government in certain first degree murder cases as set out by 

law." Defendant contends that the trial court erred in allowing this question to be asked because the 

question implies that a juror who will not return a death sentence is immoral. However, Defendant did not 

object to this question. Accordingly, Defendant has waived appellate consideration of this issue. See State 

v. Thornton, 10 S.W.3d 229, 234 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1999) (citing Tenn. R. App. P. 36(a)); State v. Green, 947 S.W.2d 

186, 188 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1997). Moreover, the scope and extent of voir dire is entrusted to the discretion of 

the trial court, and a trial court's rulings will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion. State 

v. Smith, 993 S.W.2d 6, 28 (Tenn. 1999). Defendant has failed to show an abuse of discretion by the trial court; 

therefore, he is not entitled to relief on this issue. 

24. Questioning of prospective jurors regarding what they had learned about eyewitness 

identification from watching television 

During the [**99]  group voir dire in this case, defense counsel attempted to ask a member of the panel 

what he had learned about eyewitness identification from watching television shows. The defense had 

included a similar question on the juror questionnaire. The State objected to the question during voir dire, 

and the court sustained the objection. In making its ruling, the court explained that the question was 

irrelevant to the potential juror's qualification to sit on the jury. The court further explained that the defense's 

question could elicit responses that would taint the entire panel. The trial court noted in its order denying 



the motion for new trial that "[t]he relevant inquiry was whether, regardless of each juror's personal 

knowledge concerning [eyewitness identification] evidence, he or she could objectively listen to and 

evaluate it during this trial."  

Rule 24(a) of the Tennessee Rules of Criminal Procedure provides that the trial court "shall permit questioning 

by the parties for the purposes of discovering bases  [*837]  for challenge for cause and enabling an 

intelligent exercise of peremptory challenges." As previously set forth, however, the scope and extent of 

voir dire is entrusted [**100]  to the discretion of the trial court, and a trial court's rulings will not be reversed 

on appeal absent an abuse of discretion. Smith, 993 S.W.2d at 28. 

The trial court allowed the defense to inquire about the potential jurors' knowledge of eyewitness 

identification on the questionnaire. Moreover, the court allowed counsel to ask potential jurors if they had 

learned anything outside of the courtroom that would affect their ability to consider eyewitness testimony 

fairly and impartially. Defense counsel also asked the panel numerous questions on the issue of eyewitness 

identification. Defendant asserts that by asking the potential juror what he had learned through watching 

television shows, counsel was merely attempting to make sure that the juror had not viewed programs that 

depicted eyewitness identifications as infallible or immune from error. After a review of the voir dire, we 

conclude that defense counsel was not restricted from asking about whether potential jurors believed or 

had learned from an outside source that identifications are infallible or immune from error. In fact, defense 

counsel announced to the panel that she wanted to ask a general question,  [**101]  which she stated as 

follows: "Is there anybody here who believes that people never make mistakes in recognizing other people? 

Is there anybody here who believes that?" No one from the panel responded affirmatively. The trial court's 

refusal to allow questioning of a potential juror as to his viewing of a television show that included the 

subject of eyewitness identification was not error. Defendant has failed to show that the trial court erred in 

this ruling, and is therefore not entitled to relief on this issue. 

25. Questioning of witness Jose Gonzales regarding the color of the perpetrator's gun 

Witness Jose Gonzales required the use of an interpreter at trial. Mr. Gonzales, a Spanish speaking native 

of Mexico, was assisted by an interpreter from Puerto Rico. During the State's case-in-chief, the prosecutor 

questioned Gonzales about the color of the gun used during the homicides. Gonzales, through his 

interpreter, responded that the gun was a "gold-type color." The prosecutor asked two follow up questions, 

inquiring as to whether the gun was shiny like gold or had a gold tint. Each time, Gonzales responded that 

it was a gold or gold-like color. The prosecutor subsequently [**102]  asked the interpreter to ask Gonzales 

to describe the difference in silver and gold. At that point, the defense objected, arguing that the question 

of the color of the gun had been asked and answered. The prosecutor explained that he believed there 

might be a problem in the translation between the Mexican witness and the Puerto Rican interpreter. The 

prosecutor stated he wanted to ask one clarifying question. The judge then allowed the following question: 

"Could you ask, the question is, what is silver in Mexico; what is silver in Mexico versus gold in Mexico?" 

Gonzales responded: "I call silver a gold color." 

Defendant contends that the issue of the color of the gun was crucial because witness Robert Bolin testified 

that the gun he had sold to Defendant was "nickel-plated." Defendant asserts that Gonzales did not refer 

to the color silver until the State suggested the proper answer in its question. Accordingly, Defendant 

contends that the trial court erred in allowing the  [*838]  repetitive questioning regarding the color of the 

gun. 

It is the longstanding principle that the "propriety, scope, manner and control of examination of witnesses 

is within the trial court's discretion and will [**103]  not be interfered with in the absence of an abuse of 

discretion." State v. Harris, 839 S.W.2d 54, 72 (Tenn. 1992). In the order denying the motion for new trial, the 



trial court explained that Gonzales had previously expressed concern that his thoughts were not being 

accurately conveyed at times due to variations among the dialects of his Spanish speaking interpreters. 

Moreover, this court cannot conclude that the trial court's allowance of a clarifying question results in 

prejudicial error, especially in light of the fact that the defense fully cross-examined Gonzales and 

highlighted his previous testimony that the color of the gun was a golden color. Defendant has failed to 

show an abuse of discretion by the trial court. Defendant is not entitled to relief on this issue. 

26. Admission of photograph of defendant 

Exhibit 2 to Defendant's trial is a photograph of Defendant standing in front of a black automobile. In the 

photograph, Defendant is wearing a pair of black tennis shoes. Witness Jose Gonzales testified that the 

shoes worn by Defendant in the photograph were similar to the shoes he wore on the night of the robbery 

and murders at McDonald's. The [**104]  photograph was admitted over the objection of the defense. 

Specifically, the defense contended at trial and contends on appeal that the photograph should not have 

been admitted into evidence because the photograph does not clearly depict a pair of shoes, and the 

admission of the photograph was, therefore, error. Defendant further argues that the photograph should 

have been excluded pursuant to Tennessee Rule of Evidence 403, which reads: "Although relevant, evidence 

may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, 

confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or 

needless presentation of cumulative evidence." Defendant argues that the photograph at issue is not 

admissible because it does not clearly depict a pair of shoes, and that, even if it did, there was no way that 

Gonzales could state with certainty that the shoes in the photograph were the same shoes worn by the 

perpetrator. 

It is within a trial court's discretion to admit photographic evidence at trial, and this court will not reverse the 

trial court's determination absent an abuse of discretion. State v. Banks, 564 S.W.2d 947, 949 (Tenn. 

1978). [**105]  However, before a photograph may be admitted into evidence, the relevance of the 

photograph must be established, and the probative value of the photograph must outweigh any prejudicial 

effect. State v. Braden, 867 S.W.2d 750, 758 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1993). We conclude that the photograph was 

relevant to the description of Defendant on the night in question, and we further determine that the 

admission of the photograph was not outweighed by any prejudicial effect. The photograph at issue is a 

clear depiction of Defendant wearing a pair of black tennis shoes. We cannot determine that the trial court 

erred in allowing the admission of the photograph. Defendant has failed to show that the photograph was 

not relevant to Gonzales' description of Defendant or that the admission of the photograph was error under 

Rule 403. Defendant is not entitled to relief on this issue. 

 [*839]  27. Impeachment of witness Gonzales with transcript of preliminary hearing 

Defendant contends that the trial court committed reversible error when it denied defense counsel's request 

to impeach Gonzales with his testimony at the preliminary hearing. At the preliminary hearing, Gonzales 

testified [**106]  that Defendant's hair was black and it came out of the baseball cap he was wearing on 

both the sides of the cap and in the back. During Gonzales' cross-examination at trial, he testified that the 

man at the restaurant on the night in question had hair coming out of the sides of the baseball cap. He 

further testified that he did not recall having said that the perpetrator's hair extended from the back of the 

cap and that as he recalled, the hair was only coming out from the sides of the cap. The defense, however, 

had Gonzales view the composite sketch, and Gonzales admitted that he had assisted the police in the 

formulation of the sketch. Gonzales admitted that the man pictured in the sketch had hair coming out of the 

back of the baseball cap. Moreover, defense counsel asked: "But you did see hair coming out of the back 

of the head," and Gonzales responded: "Yes, coming out of the baseball cap." Thereafter, the defense 

requested that it be permitted to cross-examine Gonzales with his testimony at the preliminary hearing. The 



defense specifically requested that it be permitted to show the transcript to Gonzales to show him exactly 

what his testimony had been at the preliminary hearing.  [**107]  The trial court denied the request. 

In denying defense counsel's request, the court explained that the transcript was produced in English, and 

it had not been established that Gonzales could read English. Moreover, there was not a verbatim 

transcription of Gonzales' words at the preliminary hearing. Instead, there was a transcription of the 

interpreter's translation of what Gonzales said. 

The propriety, scope, manner and control of cross-examination of witnesses lies within the discretion of the 

trial court. State v. Dishman, 915 S.W.2d 458, 463 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1995)(citing Coffee v. State, 188 Tenn. 1, 4, 216 

S.W.2d 702, 703 (1948); Davis v. State, 186 Tenn. 545, 212 S.W.2d 374, 375 (1948)). This court will not disturb the 

limits placed upon the cross-examination by the trial court, unless the trial court has unreasonably restricted 

the right. Id. (citing State v. Fowler, 213 Tenn. 239, 253, 373 S.W.2d 460, 466 (1963); State v. Johnson, 670 S.W.2d 

634, 636 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1984)). We cannot conclude that the trial court unreasonably restricted the cross-

examination of Gonzales when it denied [**108]  the defense's request to impeach him with his testimony 

at the preliminary hearing. As the trial court noted, there was no proof that the witness would have been 

able to read the English transcript to either confirm or deny that he made the statement as set forth in the 

transcript. Moreover, Gonzales admitted during cross-examination by the defense that the composite 

sketch depicted the perpetrator with hair coming out of the back of the baseball cap. He also admitted that 

he saw hair coming out of "the back of the head." Defendant has failed to show that he was prejudiced by 

the court's denial of cross-examination of Gonzales with the use of the preliminary hearing testimony. 

Defendant is not entitled to relief on this issue. 

28. Re-cross Examination of witness Gonzales 

On redirect examination of witness Gonzales, the State questioned Gonzales about the length of 

Defendant's hair on the night of the murders as opposed to the length of  [*840]  his hair the first time he 

saw Defendant in court after his arrest. During re-cross by the defense, counsel attempted to introduce a 

photograph of Defendant for the purpose of asking if Defendant's hair in the photograph is different 

from [**109]  the hair of the man Gonzales encountered at McDonald's on the night of the robbery and 

murders. The trial court denied Defendant's request to cross-examine Gonzales with the photograph. The 

trial court ruled that such questioning of Gonzales was not proper for re-cross examination. The court further 

advised that counsel could have introduced the photograph during its cross-examination of Gonzales. The 

trial court explained that the prosecutor's redirect examination of Gonzales regarding the length of 

Defendant's hair on the night in question and in court did not open the door for the questioning and 

introduction of the photograph as proposed by defense counsel. 

As set forth supra the propriety, scope, manner and control of cross-examination of witnesses lies within 

the discretion of the trial court, and this court will not disturb the limits placed upon the cross-examination, 

unless the trial court has unreasonably restricted the right. State v. Dishman, 915 S.W.2d at 463. Defendant 

has not shown how he was prejudiced by the trial court's ruling on this issue. Further, after a review of the 

record before us, we cannot conclude that the trial court committed reversible [**110]  error in its refusal to 

allow the questioning and introduction of the photograph as requested by Defendant. Defendant is not 

entitled to relief on this issue.  

29. Crime scene video  

Defendant contends that the trial court erred in admitting into evidence the videotape of the crime scene. 

Defendant contends that the videotape was cumulative of testimony of other witnesses. Specifically, 

defendant contends that the videotape was not necessary to establish the position of the bodies or the 

description of the crime scene. Defendant further contends that the depiction of the crime scene in the 



videotape was "gruesome and graphic" and thus prejudicial. Defendant submits that the only purpose of 

the video was to inflame and prejudice the jury against him. 

The admissibility of a videotape of a crime scene is within the sound discretion of the trial judge, and his or 

her ruling on admissibility will not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear showing of an abuse of that 

discretion. State v. Carruthers, 35 S.W.3d at 576-77, cert. denied, 533 U.S. 953, 121 S. Ct. 2600, 150 L. 

Ed. 2d 757 (2001); State v. Banks, 564 S.W.2d 947, 949 (Tenn. 1978); see also State v. Van Tran, 864 S.W.2d 465, 

477 (Tenn. 1993), [**111]  cert. denied, 511 U.S. 1046, 114 S. Ct. 1577, 128 L. Ed. 2d 220 (1994). As the 

Supreme Court stated in Carruthers, the modern trend is to vest more discretion in the trial judge's rulings 

on admissibility. Carruthers, 35 S.W.3d at 577 (citing State v. Banks, 564 S.W.2d at 949; State v. Bailey, No. 

01C01-9403-CC-00105, 1995 Tenn. Crim. App. LEXIS 605, 1995 WL 424996 (Tenn. Crim. App., Nashville, July 20, 

1995); perm. app. denied, (Tenn. Jan. 8, 1996). 

Evidence is relevant if it has "any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the 

determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence." Tenn. R. 

Evid. 401. However, relevant evidence "may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed 

by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury." Tenn. R. Evid. 403. 

Prejudicial evidence is not excluded as a matter of law. Carruthers, 35 S.W.3d at 577 (citing State v. Gentry, 

881 S.W.2d 1, 6  [*841]  (Tenn. Crim. App. 1993)). The court must still determine the relevance of the visual 

evidence and weigh its probative [**112]  value against any undue prejudice. Id. The term "undue prejudice" 

has been defined as "[a]n undue tendency to suggest decision on an improper basis, commonly, though 

not necessarily, an emotional one." Banks, 564 S.W.2d at 950-51.  

In Banks, the Supreme Court gave the trial courts guidance for determining the admissibility of relevant 

photographic evidence. A trial court should consider: the accuracy and clarity of the picture and its value 

as evidence; whether the picture depicts the body as it was found; the adequacy of testimonial evidence in 

relating the facts to the jury; and the need for the evidence to establish a prima facie case of guilt or to rebut 

Defendant's contentions. Banks, 564 S.W.2d at 951. In this case, the trial court found that the video was 

relevant to show the position of the victims, to give an accurate description of the crime scene, to 

corroborate the testimony of Gonzales, to show the location of the victims' hats, to show the location of the 

shell casings, and to show intent. The court further found that the probative value of the videotape was not 

substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.  [**113]  Defendant advances the argument that 

the video was graphic and gruesome, but the only contention he makes in this regard is that the video 

shows the bloody bodies of the victims as they were found at the crime scene and items left behind by 

medical personnel who rendered aid to Brown and Gonzales before transporting them to the hospital. The 

crime scene video of most homicides will necessarily depict the bodies of the victims as they were found 

and the blood of the victims. If this court were to accept defendant's argument in this regard, no crime scene 

videotapes of murders would ever be admissible. 

This court further concludes that while the videotape and the other evidence admitted in this case may have 

contained some of the same material, it was not error to admit the videotape. See State v. Bigbee, 885 S.W.2d 

797, 807 (Tenn. 1994), holding that it was not error to admit a videotape of the crime scene although it 

depicted images similar to those of photographs also admitted. Each of the different forms of evidence 

admitted in this case served different purposes and were probative of the issues to be decided by the jury. 

As a result, the trial court did not abuse [**114]  its discretion in admitting the videotape into evidence. See 

id.; see also State v. Lee, No. 02C01-9603-CC-00085, 1997 Tenn. Crim. App. LEXIS 1132, 1997 WL 686258, *9 

(Tenn. Crim. App., Jackson, Nov. 5, 1997), perm. app. denied, (Tenn. Aug. 3, 1998). The probative value of the 

video of the crime scene is not outweighed by the danger of any unfair prejudice. 

Defendant is not entitled to relief on this issue. 



30. Photograph of crime scene  

Defendant moved pretrial to exclude all still photographs of the crime scene. The court denied the motion, 

ruling that prior to the introduction of any photograph the State must give notice so that a hearing could be 

held outside the presence of the jury to determine admissibility. At trial, the court allowed the State to 

introduce a still photograph of the crime scene, which depicts blood at the scene and bloody footprints. 

Defendant contends that the admission of this photograph was error. 

As set forth supra, it is within the trial court's discretion to admit photographic evidence at trial, and this 

court will not reverse the trial court's determination absent an abuse of discretion. Banks, 564  [*842]  S.W.2d 

at 949. In its [**115]  order denying the Defendant's motion for new trial, the court found that the photograph 

was not particularly gruesome, it assisted paramedic Randy Stratton with his testimony that the area where 

Jose Gonzales was found was small and there was virtually no way for paramedics to attempt to save 

Gonzales' life without contaminating the scene, it was relevant to the State's theory that unidentified bloody 

prints discovered at the scene were likely those of emergency personnel as opposed to the perpetrator, 

and its relevance was not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.  

After a review of the record, we conclude that the trial court did not err in allowing the introduction of the 

photograph. While it depicts blood at the scene, we conclude that the photograph is not particularly 

gruesome. Moreover, we also agree that the photograph assisted witness Randy Stratton in his testimony. 

The probative value of the photograph is not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. 

Accordingly, Defendant is not entitled to relief on this issue. 

31. Photographs of defendant with various hair lengths 

During the testimony of Detective Postiglione, the State [**116]  submitted for evidence a collection of 

photographs that depicted Defendant with various hair lengths. Defendant contends that the admission of 

the photographs was error because some of the photographs dated back to 1996 and, therefore, were not 

relevant to the time period at issue, spring and summer of 1997. Defendant further contends that the State 

offered proof that Defendant had altered the length of his hair during the relevant time period. Therefore, 

Defendant asserts that the admission of this cumulative evidence was irrelevant.  

The trial court determined in its order denying the motion for new trial that the exact length of the 

Defendant's hair at the time in question was unknown. Therefore, through the photographs, the State 

"invited the jurors to observe the defendant's appearance with hair of various lengths and decide if his 

appearance could have been consistent with that of the perpetrator." The court specifically found that the 

probative value of the photographs was not outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. 

After reviewing the photographs, the record in general, and Defendant's arguments, we cannot conclude 

that the trial court erred in allowing the collection [**117]  of photographs to be introduced into evidence. 

The photographs were relevant to the issue of Defendant's appearance as compared to that of the 

perpetrator. Defendant has failed to show how the relevance of the photographs were substantially 

outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Further, Defendant has failed to demonstrate that the trial 

court abused its discretion in permitting the photographs to be admitted. Accordingly, this court cannot 

reverse the trial court on this issue. See Banks, 564 S.W.2d at 949. 
 

32. Questioning of witness Robert Bolin 

Robert Bolin, whose father lived in the same boarding house as Defendant, testified that in January 1997, 

Defendant asked him to obtain a .25 automatic handgun. Defendant advised that he wanted the handgun 



for his personal protection. Bolin explained that he was a truck driver and met Defendant through his father. 

Mr. Bolin sold Defendant two .25 automatic handguns during January 1997. The first handgun was a Davis 

.25 automatic, which Bolin described as nickel-plated with black handle grips. After selling 

Defendant  [*843]  the first handgun, Bolin testified that Defendant requested another handgun. The 

second [**118]  handgun was also a .25 automatic, which was nickel-plated with pink handles. Further, Mr. 

Bolin testified that he gave Defendant a box of ammunition that came in a green and yellow box, but he 

could not recall the brand of the ammunition. 

During the cross-examination of witness Robert Bolin, the defense asked Bolin if there had been extensive 

media coverage of the McDonald's murders in Nashville. Bolin responded that he assumed there had been, 

but because he drove a truck, he was not in Nashville a lot. The defense then sought to ask Mr. Bolin if he 

had ever seen the composite sketch of the perpetrator and if so, if he believed the sketch resembled 

Defendant. The trial court instructed the defense not to ask the question because counsel did not know the 

response to the question, and it was possible that his response might include a reference to one of the 

Defendant's other trials, which would cause a mistrial. The trial court concluded that any probative value of 

the response was "greatly outweighed by the possibility that Bolin would cause a mistrial by mentioning the 

unrelated murders." Defendant submits that the trial court should have allowed a jury-out hearing on the 

issue, but [**119]  he did not make such a request at trial.  

The trial court ruled pre-trial that no mention of Defendant's previous cases could be referenced at this trial. 

Accordingly, the court appears to have had concerns that the questioning regarding the media's extensive 

coverage of the McDonald's murders could lead into the witness's discussion of the media coverage in the 

Captain D's and Baskin Robbins's murders. The trial court ultimately concluded that the questioning was 

excluded by Rule of Evidence 403. Rule of Evidence 403 excludes evidence if the probative value of the 

evidence is "substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or 

misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of 

cumulative evidence." Tenn. R. Evid. 403. Defendant did not request a jury-out hearing to make an offer of 

proof on this issue; therefore, the answer to defense counsel's question of whether Bolin had seen the 

sketch remains a mystery. Further, counsel expressed interest in knowing whether Bolin believed the sketch 

looked like Defendant. Again, however, no offer of proof was made; therefore, the question remains 

unanswered.  [**120]  In the absence of an offer of proof on this issue, Defendant cannot show that he was 

prejudiced by the trial court's ruling. Accordingly, we conclude that any error by the trial court on this issue 

was harmless. See Tenn. R. Crim. P. 52(a). Defendant is not entitled to relief on this issue. 

33. Testimony of Bernie Billingsley 

Bernie Billingsley testified that he became acquainted with Defendant in early 1997, while working out at 

Hermitage Fitness Center. He testified that in March 1997, after Defendant overheard him talking with other 

members of the fitness club about the stock market, Defendant approached him for financial advice. 

Defendant advised that he had $ 3,000 he wanted to invest and asked Mr. Billingsley's advice on how he 

should invest the money. Mr. Billingsley advised that he should invest the money in a mutual fund. When 

he saw Defendant a few weeks later, Defendant advised that he had invested the money in a mutual fund. 

Defendant contends that the trial court erred in permitting Billingsley's testimony because it impermissibly 

reflects upon Defendant's  [*844]  financial condition. We have previously concluded that the trial court did 

not err in permitting [**121]  the limited proof of Defendant's financial condition. We further hold that the 

trial court did not err in permitting the testimony of Mr. Billingsley, as it was relevant to show that although 

Defendant had been unemployed since February, he had either acquired or intended to acquire $ 3,000 

and was seeking advice on how to invest the money. The relevance of this testimony was not outweighed 

by the danger of unfair prejudice. See Tenn. R. Evid. 403. 



Defendant is not entitled to relief on this issue. 

34. Trial court's refusal to instruct jury that it could convict defendant of premeditated murder or 

felony murder, but not both 

Defendant contends that the trial court should have instructed the jury it could convict him of premeditated 

murder or felony murder, but not both. Defendant concedes, however, that the Supreme Court rejected this 

argument in State v. Cribbs, 967 S.W.2d 773, 787-88 (Tenn. 1998). Therefore, Defendant asserts this issue 

strictly for the purpose of preserving it for further review. Accordingly, Defendant is not entitled to relief on 

this issue. 
 

35. Instruction to jury that punishment for the crime of first degree murder would  [**122]   be 

considered at separate sentencing hearing if Defendant was found guilty 

Defendant contends that a portion of the court's instructions to the jury should have been deleted. 

Specifically, Defendant asserts that the jury should not have been instructed during the guilt-innocence 

phase of the trial that a separate sentencing hearing would be held if the jury found Defendant guilty of first 

degree murder. The trial court instructed the jury pursuant to Tennessee Pattern Jury Instruction 7.01(b) and 

7.03(b) as follows: 
If you so find, then it shall be your duty after a separate sentencing hearing to determine whether the 

defendant will be sentenced to death, life imprisonment without the possibility of parole, or life in prison, but 

you will not consider punishment for this offense at this time. 

Defendant argues that the above-quoted portion of the jury charge was improper despite the fact that it was 

technically accurate, because the instruction had the possibility of diverting the jury's attention from their 

sole task during that proceeding, which was to determine Defendant's guilt or innocence. However, this 

court has held that a trial court's failure to instruct the [**123]  jury as to its role in punishing the defendant 

in a separate sentencing hearing if they found Defendant guilty of first degree murder necessitated a new 

trial. State v. Fuino, 608 S.W.2d 892, 895 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1980). In Fuino this court specifically ordered 

the trial court to instruct the jury as to their duty to fix punishment after a separate sentencing hearing in the 

event of a verdict of first degree murder on remand. Id. at 896. Accordingly, the trial court did not err in 

giving the contested instruction. Defendant is not entitled to relief on this issue. 

36. Use of styrofoam heads by Dr. Levy as demonstrative evidence 

During Dr. Bruce Levy's testimony, he used styrofoam heads to demonstrate, with a pen, the head wounds 

suffered by the victims. Defendant objected to the use of the demonstrative evidence, contending that the 

heads were unduly prejudicial. Defendant made this argument in the appeal of his Montgomery County 

convictions, and this court rejected  [*845]  his challenge. The Supreme Court has affirmed our conclusion 

that the use of styrofoam heads by the medical examiner was not error. Reid, 164 S.W.3d 286, 2005 WL 

1219263, at *    . [**124]  In rejecting Defendant's argument this court stated, and our Supreme Court has 

agreed with the following: 

This court approved the use of this type of demonstrative evidence in State v. Robert E. Cole, No. 02C01-9207-

CR-00165, 1993 Tenn. Crim. App. LEXIS 876, 1993 WL 539185, *3 (Tenn. Crim. App., Jackson, Dec. 30, 1993). In 

Cole, this court concluded that the evidence was "highly probative as to the issues to be decided by the 

jury. Under the circumstances, the trial court did not err in admitting the challenged evidence." Id. (citing 

State v. King, 718 S.W.2d 241 (Tenn. 1986); State v. Sexton, 724 S.W.2d 371 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1986)).  
This court cannot find that the use of the styrofoam heads was inappropriate in this case as the appellant 

urges. The trial court did not err in its ruling that the use of the styrofoam heads would assist [the medical 



examiner] in demonstrating the location of the wounds. This issue is without merit. 

Reid, 164 S.W.3d 286, 2005 WL 1219263, at *    .  

The trial court in this case specifically found that the styrofoam heads would assist Dr. Levy in demonstrating 

the location [**125]  of the victims' wounds. This court cannot determine that the trial court erred in allowing 

the use of the demonstrative evidence. Defendant is not entitled to relief on this issue. 

37. Recall of witness Robert Bolin by the State 

The trial court allowed the State to recall witness Robert Bolin to correct his earlier testimony. Mr. Bolin had 

testified at trial that he sold Defendant a Larsen .25 automatic handgun. After his testimony, the witness 

reviewed an earlier police report and realized that he had misstated the brand of the handgun during his 

testimony at trial. The defense objected to the recall of witness Bolin. However, the trial court allowed the 

recall of Mr. Bolin for the limited purpose of clarifying his misstatement as to the brand of the handgun. The 

court allowed the recall because Mr. Bolin was correcting his testimony as to the brand of the gun, but was 

not adding to his testimony. On recall, Mr. Bolin testified that the handgun he sold to Defendant was not a 

Larsen handgun, but was a Raven handgun. 

Defendant contends that the trial court's action in permitting the recall of Mr. Bolin had the effect of allowing 

him to be a more credible witness than he [**126]  actually was. Moreover, Defendant contends that the 

recall of Mr. Bolin must be compared to his request to recall Dr. Caruso at the competency hearing. 

However, the recall of witness Bolin differed greatly from the requested recall of Dr. Caruso. First, Mr. Bolin 

was a lay witness who made a misstatement on the stand. Dr. Caruso was an expert who had been 

compensated for his opinions and had provided his opinions in a written report. Second, Mr. Bolin merely 

needed to correct his testimony on the stand as to the brand of handgun he sold to Defendant. Dr. Caruso, 

however, would have been required to amend his expert report and alter the basis of his expert opinions. 

Furthermore, the trial court found that the circumstances surrounding the requested recall of Dr. Caruso 

were suspicious and lacking in credibility. No such finding was made as to witness Bolin. 

The trial court has discretion in determining whether it will allow a party to recall a witness, and it does not 

constitute error absent an abuse of discretion. State v. Caughron, 855 S.W.2d 526, 539  [*846]  (Tenn. 1993); 

Lillard v. State, 528 S.W.2d 207, 212 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1975). We cannot conclude [**127]  that the trial court 

abused its discretion in allowing the State to recall Robert Bolin. Defendant is not entitled to relief on this 

issue.  

38. Constitutionality of Tenn. Code Ann. Sec. 39-13-204  

Defendant asserts that Tennessee Code Annotated Section 39-13-204 is unconstitutional. He asserts 

multiple challenges to the death penalty statutes, but acknowledges that the constitutional challenges he 

asserts have been decided adversely to him by the Supreme Court. He raises this issue merely to preserve 

it for later review. 

The death penalty statutes have repeatedly been held constitutional. See e.g., State v. Reid, 91 S.W.3d 247, 

313 (Tenn. 2002); State v. Keen, 31 S.W.3d 196, 233 (Tenn. 2000), cert. denied, 532 U.S. 907, 121 S. Ct. 1233, 

149 L. Ed. 2d 142 (2001); State v. Nesbit, 978 S.W.2d 872, 902 (Tenn. 1998), cert. denied, 526 U.S. 1052, 119 

S. Ct. 1359, 143 L. Ed. 2d 520 (1999); State v. Vann, 976 S.W.2d 93, 117 (Tenn. 1998), cert. denied, 526 U.S. 

1071, 119 S. Ct. 1467, 143 L. Ed. 2d 551 (1999); [**128]  State v. Bland, 958 S.W.2d 651, 663 (Tenn. 1997), 

cert. denied, 523 U.S. 1083, 118 S. Ct. 1536, 140 L. Ed. 2d 686 (1998); State v. Cazes, 875 S.W.2d 253 (Tenn. 

1994); State v. Bigbee, 885 S.W.2d 797, 813-14 (Tenn. 1994); State v. Smith, 857 S.W.2d 1, 21-22 (Tenn.), cert. 

denied, 510 U.S. 996, 114 S. Ct. 561, 126 L. Ed. 2d 461 (1993); State v. Bane, 853 S.W.2d 483, 488 (Tenn. 



1993); State v. Harris, 839 S.W.2d 54 (Tenn. 1992). 

Accordingly, Defendant is not entitled to relief on this issue. 

39. Admission of victim impact evidence 

Defendant next contends that the trial court erred in denying his motion to exclude all victim impact 

evidence. Specifically, defendant argues that State v. Nesbit, 978 S.W.2d 872 (Tenn. 1998), the case allowing 

victim impact testimony, had not been decided at the time of the crimes at issue; therefore, allowing victim 

impact testimony in this case would constitute a violation of Defendant's right to be free from ex post facto 

laws. Defendant acknowledges that the Supreme Court rejected this precise [**129]  issue against him in 

State v. Reid, 91 S.W.3d 247 (Tenn. 2002), but asserts it for the purpose of preserving it for later review. 

Defendant is not entitled to relief on this issue. 
 

40. [Deleted: Use of "mass murder" aggravating circumstance when defendant had not been 

convicted of other murders at the time of the commission of the crimes in this case] 

41. [Deleted: Admission of evidence of the Captain D's murders to establish the "mass murder" 

aggravating circumstance] 

42. "Avoiding Arrest" aggravating circumstance 

Defendant moved in a pretrial motion to strike aggravating circumstance (i)(6), the "avoiding arrest" 

aggravator, because it duplicates the elements of the underlying offense and therefore fails to narrow the 

class of death-eligible offenders in violation of the state and federal constitutions and it duplicates the 

elements of the (i)(7) aggravator and therefore fails to narrow the class of death-eligible offenders. The trial 

court denied Defendant's motion. On appeal, Defendant argues that the trial court erred in denying the 

motion.  [*847]  However, Defendant acknowledges that the Supreme Court has rejected his 

arguments.  [**130]  See State v. Bush, 942 S.W.2d 489, 504 (Tenn. 1997) where the Supreme Court approved 

the use of the (i)(6) aggravator when an offense in addition to a murder occurred and State v. Blanton, 975 

S.W.2d 269, 280 (Tenn. 1998) where the Supreme Court approved the use of the (i)(6) and (i)(7) aggravators 

in the same case. Despite the Supreme Court's rejection of Defendant's arguments, he makes them in this 

appeal for the purpose of preserving the issue for further review. Defendant is not entitled to relief on this 

issue.  

43. Life photographs of victims  

Defendant challenges the introduction of photographs taken of the victims before they were murdered. 

Defendant asserts that the photographs, introduced during the victim impact testimony, served only to 

inflame the jurors and appeal to their emotions. The State counters that the photographs were probative of 

the issue of the impact of the death on the victims' family members and to show those unique characteristics 

which provide a brief glimpse into the life of the victims. The Supreme Court has held: 

[g]enerally, victim impact evidence should be limited to information to show those [**131]  unique 

characteristics which provide a brief glimpse into the life of the individual who has been killed, the 

contemporaneous and prospective circumstances surrounding the individual's death, and how those 

circumstances financially, emotionally, psychologically or physically impacted upon members of the victim's 

immediate family. 

Nesbit, 978 S.W.2d at 887. In this case, the photographs were introduced to provide a brief glimpse into the 

lives of the victims, as allowed by Nesbit. Accordingly, the court did not err in allowing the introduction of 



these photographs. Defendant is not entitled to relief on this issue. 

44. Victim impact testimony by family members 

During the penalty phase, Ivette Rivera, wife of Ronald Santiago, testified as to the effect her husband's 

death had on her life and the lives of her children. In so doing, she discussed the last time she and her 

children had seen Mr. Santiago. She also testified that her daughter will not allow anyone to call her 

"princess" because that is the nickname Mr. Santiago had for his daughter. Doyle Brown, Andrea Brown's 

father, testified as to the difficulties he and his family were having in [**132]  dealing with his daughter's 

death. In his testimony he advised that his daughter's room remained exactly the same, and they had kept 

the car that Andrea bought just before she was killed. He further stated: "It's been real hard to learn that 

she won't be here anymore." Defendant maintains that these passages of testimony exceed the permissible 

scope of victim impact evidence. 

Defendant did not object to the testimony by either Ivette Rivera or Doyle Brown; therefore, this issue is 

waived. See State v. Thornton, 10 S.W.3d 229, 234 (Tenn. 1999)(citing Tenn. R. App. P. 36(a)); State v. Green, 974 

S.W.2d at 188. Further, we find that the testimony by Ms. Rivera and Mr. Brown was proper victim impact 

testimony under Nesbit, 978 S.W.2d at 879. Accordingly, Defendant is not entitled to relief on this issue. 

45. Non-statutory mitigating circumstances 

Defendant requested that the trial court instruct the jury as to twenty-four specific non-statutory mitigating 

circumstances. Defendant asked that the non-statutory mitigators be charged verbatim.  [*848]  The trial 

court denied Defendant's request. Instead, the court instructed the jury on [**133]  eleven general 

categories of mitigating circumstances. Defendant contends that the trial court erred in charging the general 

non-statutory mitigators, but admits that the trial court's instruction complied with current case law. 

The Supreme Court affirmed the trial court's denial of a similar request made by Defendant in his appeal of 

his convictions of the Captain D's murders. In that case, Defendant requested that the trial court instruct 

the jury as to twenty-eight specific non-statutory mitigating circumstances. Reid, 91 S.W.3d at 305. In affirming 

the trial court's denial of Defendant's request for the twenty-eight non-statutory mitigators, the Supreme 

Court relied on State v. Odom, 928 S.W.2d 18, 31 (Tenn. 1996), where the court had held that instructions on 

non-statutory mitigating circumstances must not be fact specific and thereby imply to the jury that the court 

had made a finding of fact in contravention of Article VI, Section 9 of the Tennessee Constitution. The Reid Court 

determined that the trial court had not erred in providing instructions to the jury, as it had provided non-

statutory mitigating circumstances drafted in general [**134]  categories, which were drafted in a similar 

style to the statutory mitigating circumstances and were substantially the same as the instructions 

requested by Defendant. Reid, 91 S.W.3d at 307. 

In this case, the trial court complied with Tennessee case law in charging the jury with the eleven general 

non-statutory mitigating circumstances. The mitigating circumstances were drafted in a style similar to the 

statutory circumstances, they embodied the requests made by Defendant, and they reflected the proof 

presented during the sentencing hearing. Accordingly, the trial court did not err in this regard. Defendant is 

not entitled to relief on this issue. 

46. Jury instruction on victim impact testimony 

As previously set forth, Defendant filed a motion to exclude all victim impact evidence. Defendant also 

challenged the victim impact jury instruction in State v. Nesbit, 978 S.W.2d 872, 892 (Tenn. 1988). The instruction 

reads as follows: 



You may consider the victim impact evidence in determining the appropriateness of the death penalty only 

if you first find that the existence of one or more aggravating circumstances has been proven 

beyond [**135]  a reasonable doubt by evidence independent from the victim impact evidence, and find 

that the aggravating circumstance(s) found outweigh the finding of one or more mitigating circumstances 

beyond a reasonable doubt. 

Defendant contends that the Nesbit instruction is illogical and that victim impact evidence is irrelevant under 

the death penalty statute. However, victim impact evidence has been declared constitutional by the United 

States Supreme Court and the Tennessee Supreme Court. Payne v. Tennessee, 501 U.S. 808, 827, 111 S. Ct. 

2597, 115 L. Ed. 2d 720 (1991); State v. Nesbit, 978 S.W.2d 872, 889 (Tenn. 1998), cert. denied, 526 U.S. 1052, 

119 S. Ct. 1359, 143 L. Ed. 2d 520 (1999). Furthermore, the argument advanced by defendant that victim 

impact testimony is irrelevant and should be excluded under Tennessee's current capital sentencing 

system, has been rejected by the Supreme Court. See State v. Reid, 91 S.W.3d at 282-83, holding that any 

contradiction between the statute and the Nesbit instruction inures to the benefit of Defendant; therefore, 

this argument does not entitle Defendant to relief. 
 

 [*849]  47. [Deleted:  [**136]   Sufficiency of evidence to support jury's finding that aggravating 

circumstances outweighed mitigating factors beyond a reasonable doubt] 

48. [Deleted: Proportionality Review] 

[Deleted: CONCLUSION] 

THOMAS T. WOODALL, JUDGE  

Concur by: ADOLPHO A. BIRCH, JR.   

Dissent by: ADOLPHO A. BIRCH, JR.   

Dissent 
 
 

ADOLPHO A. BIRCH, JR. SP. J., concurring and dissenting. 

I concur in the conclusion of the majority that Reid's convictions should be affirmed. As to the sentences of 

death, however, I respectfully dissent. I continue to adhere to my view, expressed many times before, that 

the comparative proportionality review protocol currently embraced by the majority is inadequate to shield 

defendants from the arbitrary and disproportionate imposition of the death penalty. See State v. Reid, 164 

S.W.3d 286, 323-325 (Tenn. 2005)(Birch, J., concurring and dissenting), and cases cited therein. Accordingly, 

I respectfully dissent from that portion of the majority opinion affirming the imposition of the death penalty 

in this case. 

Aside from the above, I would urge the Executive to follow the lead of California and Florida, whose 

Governors have suspended executions by lethal chemical [**137]  until in-depth investigations can be 

conducted into the propriety of using a certain chemical as a killing agent. I am led to believe that Tennessee 

includes the same lethal chemical(s) in its protocol as do California and Florida. 

ADOLPHO A. BIRCH, JR., SPECIAL JUSTICE  
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Tenn. Code Ann. § 16-18-312 

Current through the 2024 Regular Session. 
 

TN - Tennessee Code Annotated  >  Title 16 Courts  >  Chapter 18 Municipal Courts — 

Judges  >  Part 3 Municipal Court Reform Act 

 

16-18-312. Special substitute judges — Sitting by interchange for 

other judges.  
 
 

(a)  If a municipal judge is unable to preside over municipal court for any reason, then a special 

substitute municipal judge shall be determined pursuant to an ordinance of the governing body of 

such municipal court. In the absence of such an ordinance, then the municipal judge may 

designate in writing, to be filed with the clerk of the municipal court, the name of a special 

substitute judge to hold court in the municipal judge's place and stead. The special substitute 

judge must meet the qualifications of a municipal judge and the special substitute judge shall take 

the same oath and have the same authority as the regular municipal judge to hold court for the 

occasion. Such appointment of a special substitute judge is effective for no more than thirty (30) 

days, after which a new appointment is required. 

(b)  Municipal court judges and general sessions court judges are empowered to sit by 

interchange for other municipal court judges. 

History 
 
 

                                     

Acts 2006, ch. 1004, § 5; 2019, ch. 72, § 1.                                  
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Tenn. Code Ann. § 40-24-105 

Current through the 2024 Regular Session. 
 

TN - Tennessee Code Annotated  >  Title 40 Criminal Procedure  >  Chapter 24 Fines 

 

40-24-105. Collection of fines, costs and litigation taxes — Installment 

payment plan — Suspended license — Restricted license  — 

Conversion to civil judgment — Settlement. 
 
 

(a)  Unless discharged by payment or service of imprisonment in default of a fine, a fine may be 

collected in the same manner as a judgment in a civil action. The trial court may also enforce all 

orders assessing any fine remaining in default by contempt upon a finding by the court that the 

defendant has the present ability to pay the fine and willfully refuses to pay. Costs and litigation 

taxes due may be collected in the same manner as a judgment in a civil action, but shall not be 

deemed part of the penalty, and no person shall be imprisoned under this section in default of 

payment of costs or litigation taxes. The following shall be the allocation formula for moneys paid 

into court in matters adjudicated on or after January 1, 2022: the first moneys paid in a case shall 

first be credited toward the payment of restitution owed to the victim, if any, and once restitution 

has been paid in full, the next moneys shall be credited toward payment of litigation taxes, and 

once litigation taxes have been paid, the next moneys shall be credited toward payment of costs; 

then additional moneys shall be credited toward payment of the fine. 

(b)   

(1)  Any person who is issued a license under title 55 and who has not paid all litigation taxes, 

court costs, and fines assessed as a result of disposition of any offense under the criminal 

laws of this state within one (1) year of the date of the completion of the sentence shall enter 

into an installment payment plan with the clerk of the court ordering disposition of the offense 

to make payments on the taxes, costs, and fines owed. 

(2)  The clerk of the court ordering disposition of an offense shall offer a payment plan, which 

must be reasonable and based on a person's income and ability to pay, to any person 

convicted of an offense under the criminal laws of this state who requests to make payments 

pursuant to an installment payment plan or who is required to enter into an installment 

payment plan in accordance with subdivision (b)(1). A person may request, and the court 

clerk shall grant, modifications to the payment plan upon a change in the person's financial 

circumstances or upon good cause shown. If the request for modification is denied by a 

deputy clerk, then the person may appeal the denial to the chief clerk. If a request for 

modification is denied by the chief clerk, then the person may petition the court for 

modifications to the payment plan based upon a change in the person's financial 

circumstances or upon good cause shown. 

(3)   

(A)  The court clerk shall inform a person who enters into a payment plan pursuant to this 

subsection (b) that: 



(i)  Failure to timely make the payments as ordered by the court results in the 

suspension of the person's license and the issuance of a restricted license; and 

(ii)  Any default on the payment plan while the person is issued a restricted license 

results in the revocation of the restricted license and the person's driving privileges 

as described in subdivision (b)(5). 

(B)  The court clerk shall notify the department of a person's failure to comply with a 

payment plan established pursuant to this subsection (b). 

(C)   

(i)  Upon notice of the person's failure to comply with the payment plan established 

pursuant to this subsection (b), the department shall notify the person in writing of the 

pending suspension of the person's license and instruct the person to contact the 

appropriate court clerk within the time period described in this subdivision (b)(3)(C). 

(ii)  A person has thirty (30) days from the date the department sends the notice 

described in subdivision (b)(3)(C)(i) to reestablish compliance with the payment plan 

or petition the court clerk or court and demonstrate that the person has, in fact, 

complied with the court clerk's payment plan. 

(iii)  If the person reestablishes compliance with the payment plan or demonstrates to 

the court clerk or court that the person complied with the court clerk's payment plan, 

then the court clerk shall issue a receipt or other documentation to the person. If the 

person presents the receipt or other documentation to the department prior to the 

expiration of the thirty-day period described in subdivision (b)(3)(C)(ii), then the 

department shall not suspend the person's license. 

(iv)  A person who fails to reestablish compliance with the payment plan or 

demonstrate to the court clerk or court's satisfaction that the person complied with 

the court clerk's payment plan and whose license is suspended in accordance with 

this subdivision (b)(3) may apply to the court for the issuance of a restricted license. 

The court shall order the issuance of a restricted license if the person is otherwise 

eligible for a driver license. 

(D)  If the person does not present the receipt or other documentation to the department 

prior to the expiration of the thirty-day period, then the department shall suspend the 

person's license. Upon the person presenting a certified copy of the court order in 

accordance with subdivision (b)(4)(B), the department shall issue a restricted license in 

place of the suspended license. 

(4)   

(A)  A restricted license issued pursuant to this subsection (b) is valid only for travel 

necessary for: 

(i)  Employment; 

(ii)  School; 

(iii)  Religious worship; 

(iv)  Participation in a recovery court, which includes drug courts under the Drug 

Court Treatment Act of 2003, compiled in title 16, chapter 22; DUI courts; mental 

health courts; and veterans treatment courts; or 

(v)  Serious illness of the person or an immediate family member. 



(B)  The order for the issuance of a restricted license must state with all practicable 

specificity the necessary times and places of permissible operation of a motor vehicle. 

The person may obtain a certified copy of the order and, within ten (10) days after the 

order is issued, present it to the department, which shall issue a restricted license 

embodying the limitations imposed in the order. After proper application and until the 

restricted license is issued, a certified copy of the order may serve in lieu of a driver 

license. 

(5)   

(A)  If a person who is issued a restricted license fails to comply with a payment plan 

established pursuant to this subsection (b), the court clerk shall notify the department of 

the person's failure to comply with the payment plan. 

(B)   

(i)  Upon notice of the person's failure to comply with the payment plan, the 

department shall notify the person in writing of the pending revocation of the person's 

restricted license and instruct the person to contact the appropriate court clerk within 

the time period described in this subdivision (b)(5)(B). 

(ii)  A person has thirty (30) days from the date the department sends the notice 

described in subdivision (b)(5)(B)(i) to reestablish compliance with the payment plan 

or petition the court clerk or court and demonstrate that the person has, in fact, 

complied with the court clerk's payment plan. 

(iii)  If the person reestablishes compliance with the payment plan or demonstrates to 

the court clerk or court that the person complied with the court clerk's payment plan, 

then the court clerk shall issue a receipt or other documentation to the person. If the 

person presents the receipt or other documentation to the department prior to the 

expiration of the thirty-day period described in subdivision (b)(5)(B)(ii), then the 

department shall not revoke the person's restricted license. 

(C)  If the person does not present the receipt or other documentation to the department 

prior to the expiration of the thirty-day period, then the department shall revoke the 

person's restricted license. 

(D)  No sooner than six (6) months from the date of revocation, a person whose restricted 

license is revoked pursuant to this subdivision (b)(5) may apply with the court clerk for a 

certification that the person is eligible to be reissued a restricted license; provided, that 

the person must be actively participating in an installment payment plan in accordance 

with subdivision (b)(2). 

(E)  Upon the person's application for a certification that the person is eligible to receive a 

reissued restricted license pursuant to subdivision (b)(5)(D), the court clerk shall certify 

whether the person is actively participating in a payment plan and request the reissuance 

of a restricted driver license for the person if the person is otherwise eligible for a driver 

license. The certification must state with all practicable specificity the necessary times 

and places of permissible operation of a motor vehicle for purposes described in 

subdivision (b)(4)(A). The person may obtain a copy of the certification and, within ten 

(10) days after the certification is issued, present it to the department, which shall issue a 

restricted license embodying the limitations imposed in the certification. After proper 

application and until the restricted license is issued, a copy of the certification may serve 

in lieu of a driver license. 



(6)   

(A)  Notwithstanding this subsection (b), if a licensee claims an inability to pay taxes, 

fines, or costs imposed for a disposition of any offense under the criminal laws of this 

state due to indigency, the court shall offer the person the opportunity to submit proof of 

the person's financial inability to pay, which may include a signed affidavit of indigency. 

For purposes of this subdivision (b)(6), the standard for a claim of indigency is the same 

as for an indigent person, as defined in § 40-14-201. 

(B)  Upon proof of a person's financial inability to pay, the court shall suspend the 

person's taxes, fines, and costs. No additional fines or costs accrue against the original 

taxes, fines, and costs as a result of or during the suspension of the person's taxes, fines, 

and costs. The court may order the person to reappear before the court for a reevaluation 

of the person's financial ability or inability to pay the taxes, fines, or costs. If, after the 

reevaluation, the person: 

(i)  Is no longer financially unable to pay or secure any portion of the taxes, fines, or 

costs in accordance with subdivision (b)(6)(A), the court shall reinstate the taxes, 

fines, and costs and apply subdivisions (b)(2)-(5); or 

(ii)  Remains financially unable to pay any portion of the taxes, fines, or costs, the 

court shall extend the suspension of the person's taxes, fines, and costs and may 

order the person to reappear before the court for a reevaluation of the person's 

financial ability or inability to pay the fine or cost in accordance with this subdivision 

(b)(6)(B). The process described by this subdivision (b)(6)(B) applies until the person 

fully pays the moneys owed the court or any outstanding taxes, fines, or costs are 

waived by the court. 

(7)  Notwithstanding this subsection (b), a person will be issued a restricted license or have 

the person's license reinstated only if the person is otherwise eligible for a driver license. 

(8)  The process described by this subsection (b) applies until the person fully pays the 

moneys owed the court or any outstanding taxes, fines, or costs are waived by the court. 

(9)  If otherwise eligible for a driver license, any person whose driver license was revoked 

under this section, prior to July 1, 2019, for nonpayment of litigation taxes, court costs, and 

fines assessed may apply to the court having original jurisdiction over the offense for an order 

reinstating the person's license upon entering into an installment payment plan under this 

subsection (b) or the submittal of proof described in subdivision (b)(6). The person may 

present a certified copy of the court's order to the department of safety, which shall reissue a 

driver license at no cost to the person if the person is otherwise eligible for a driver license. 

(c)  The district attorney general or the county or municipal attorney, as applicable, may, in that 

person's discretion, and shall, upon order of the court, institute proceedings to collect the fine, 

costs and litigation taxes as a civil judgment. 

(d)   

(1)  Any fine, costs, or litigation taxes remaining in default after the entry of the order 

assessing the fine, costs, or litigation taxes may be collected by the district attorney general 

or the criminal or general sessions court clerk in the manner authorized by this section and 

otherwise by the trial court by contempt upon a finding by the court that the defendant has the 

present ability to pay the fine and willfully refuses to pay. After a fine, costs, or litigation taxes 

have been in default for at least six (6) months, the district attorney general or criminal or 

general sessions court clerk may retain an agent to collect, or institute proceedings to collect, 



or establish an in-house collection procedure to collect, fines, costs and litigation taxes. If an 

agent is used, the district attorney general or the criminal or general sessions court clerk shall 

request the county purchasing agent to utilize normal competitive bidding procedures 

applicable to the county to select and retain the agent. If the district attorney general and the 

criminal or general sessions court clerk cannot agree upon who collects the fines, costs and 

litigation taxes, the presiding judge of the judicial district or a general sessions judge shall 

make the decision. The district attorney general or criminal or general sessions court clerk 

may retain up to fifty percent (50%) of the fines, costs and litigation taxes collected pursuant 

to this subsection (d) in accordance with any in-house collection procedure or, if an agent is 

used, for the collection agent. The proceeds from any in-house collection shall be treated as 

other fees of the office. When moneys are paid into court, the allocation formula outlined in 

subsection (a) shall be followed, except up to fifty percent (50%) may be withheld for in-

house collection or, if an agent is used, for the collection agent, with the remainder being 

allocated according to the formula. 

(2)  On or after January 1, 2015, if an agent is used, the agent's collection fee shall be added 

to the total amount owed. The agent's collection fee shall not exceed forty percent (40%) of 

any amounts actually collected. When moneys are paid into court, the allocation formula 

outlined in subsection (a) shall be followed, except up to forty percent (40%) may be withheld 

for the collection agent, with the remainder being allocated according to the formula. 

(e)   

(1)  The governing body of any municipality may by ordinance authorize the employment of a 

collection agency to collect fines and costs assessed by the municipal court where the fines 

and costs have not been collected within sixty (60) days after they were due. The authorizing 

ordinance shall include the requirement that the contract between the municipality and the 

collection agency be in writing. 

(2)  The collection agency may be paid an amount not exceeding forty percent (40%) of the 

sums collected as consideration for collecting the fines and costs. 

(3)  The written contract between the collection agency and the municipality shall include a 

provision specifying whether the agency may institute an action to collect fines and costs in a 

judicial proceeding. 

(4)  Nothing in this subsection (e) shall be interpreted to permit a municipality to employ a 

collection agency for the collection of unpaid parking tickets in violation of § 6-54-513. 

(f)  If any fine, costs or litigation taxes assessed against the defendant in a criminal case remain 

in default when the defendant is released from the sentence imposed, the sentence expires or the 

criminal court otherwise loses jurisdiction over the defendant, the sentencing judge, clerk or 

district attorney general may have the amount remaining in default converted to a civil judgment 

pursuant to the Tennessee Rules of Civil Procedure.  The judgment may be enforced as is 

provided in this section or in any other manner authorized by law for a civil judgment. 

(g)  After a fine, costs, or litigation taxes have been in default for at least five (5) years, the 

criminal or general sessions court clerk may, subject to approval by a court of competent 

jurisdiction, accept a lump-sum partial payment in full settlement of the outstanding balance due 

on a case. The court shall not approve a settlement unless the amount accepted is equal to or 

greater than fifty percent (50%) of the combined outstanding balance of all fines, costs, and 

litigation taxes due on the case. When moneys are paid into court pursuant to this subsection (g), 

the allocation formula outlined in subsection (a) shall be followed, except the percentage that may 



be retained by the clerk pursuant to subsection (d) may be withheld, with the remainder being 

allocated according to the formula. 

(h)  [Deleted by 2019 amendment.] 

(i)  As used in this section, “costs” shall include any jail fees or other incarceration costs imposed. 

History 
 
 

                               

Acts 1972, ch. 729, § 3; T.C.A., §§ 40-3209, 40-3205; Acts 1991, ch. 467, § 1; 1992, ch. 956, § 1; 1996, 

ch. 826, § 1; 1996, ch. 920, § 1; 1997, ch. 325, §§ 1, 2; 2007, ch. 167, §§ 1, 2; 2009, ch. 570, § 1; 2009, 

ch. 577, § 2; 2011, ch. 504, §§ 1-3; 2014, ch. 737, §§ 1, 2; 2015, ch. 257, § 1; 2017, ch. 149, § 1; 2017, 

ch. 412, §§ 1-4; 2018, ch. 538, § 1; 2018, ch. 579, § 1; 2019, ch. 438, §§ 5, 6; 2021, ch. 410, §§ 6-8; 

2021, ch. 413, § 1.                            

Annotations 

Notes 
 

                                  

                                     

Compiler's Notes.  

                                                                            

Acts 1991, ch. 467, § 2, provided that the amendment to this section by that act shall apply retroactively to 

the collection of any unpaid fines or costs assessed on or after July 1, 1980. 

                                                                                                                

Acts 2011, ch. 504, § 4, provided that the act, which added subsection (b), shall apply to offenses committed 

on or after July 2, 2011. 

                                                                                                                

Pursuant to Article III, Section 18 of the Constitution of Tennessee, Acts 2014, ch. 737 took effect on April 

21, 2014.  

                                                                                                                

Acts 2014, ch. 737, § 5 provided that any changes to a court clerk's computer system or software 

necessitated by the use of a collection agent under the act, which amended subsection (d), shall be paid 

for by funds collected by the clerk for computer related expenses pursuant to § 8-21-401(j) to the extent 

such funds are available. No state funds shall be allocated to make any changes to a court clerk's computer 

system or software necessitated by the act. 

                                                                                                                



Acts 2014, ch. 737, § 6 provided that the act, which amended subsection (d), is remedial in nature and is 

intended to assist court clerks with the administrative costs and difficulties associated with the collection of 

delinquent fines, costs and litigation taxes. 

                                                                                                                

Acts 2014, ch. 737, § 8 provided that the additional fee if a collection agent is used shall apply to all amounts 

that have been owed for at least six (6) months on January 1, 2015, or become owed for at least six (6) 

months after January 1, 2015, whether the case was adjudicated prior to, or on or after, April 21, 2014. 

                                                                                                                

Acts 2018, ch. 538, § 2 provided that the act, which amended this section, shall apply to any applicable 

application for stay of revocation that is made on or after March 7, 2018. 

                                                                                                                

Acts 2021, ch. 410, § 1 provided that the act is known and may be cited as the “Reentry Success Act of 

2021.”  

                                                                      

                                  

                                     

Amendments.  

                                                                            

The 2018 amendment by ch. 538, in (b)(3)(B), added “For offenders identified in subdivisions (b)(3)(A)(i)-

(iii), (v), and (vi),” at the beginning of the second sentence, substituted “no longer than” for “not longer than” 

near the end of the second sentence, and added the present third sentence.  

                                                                                                                

The 2018 amendment by ch. 579 added the last sentence in (b)(1). 

                                                                                                                

The 2019 amendment rewrote (b), which read: “(b)(1) A license issued under title 55 for any operator or 

chauffeur shall be revoked by the commissioner of safety if the licensee has not paid all litigation taxes, 

court costs, and fines assessed as a result of disposition of any offense under the criminal laws of this state 

within one (1) year of the date of disposition of the offense. The license shall remain revoked until such time 

as the person whose license has been revoked provides proof to the commissioner of safety that all litigation 

taxes, court costs, and fines have been paid. No person's license shall be revoked pursuant to this 

subdivision (b)(1) based upon nonpayment of county jail fees assessed to a person pursuant to the Inmate 

Reimbursement to the County Act of 1995, compiled in title 41, chapter 11. 

                                        

“(2) The clerk of the court ordering disposition of an offense shall notify the commissioner of safety when 

an offender has litigation taxes, court costs, and fines that remain unpaid after one (1) year from the 

disposition of the offense. Such notification shall take place within thirty (30) days of the expiration of the 

one-year period or as soon as practicable. The commissioner of safety shall not refuse to revoke a license 



issued under title 55 on grounds that notification was not received within the thirty-day period specified in 

this subdivision (b)(2). 

                                        

“(3)(A) A person who is unable to pay any portion of assessed litigation taxes, court costs, and fines may 

apply to the court having original jurisdiction over the offense for an order staying the revocation of the 

license issued under title 55. An order to stay the revocation of the license shall be granted if the court finds 

that the person would experience hardship from the revocation of the license and that other means of 

transportation are not readily available to the person. Grounds for finding of hardship are limited to travel 

necessary for: 

                                        

“(i) Employment; 

                                        

“(ii) School; 

                                        

“(iii) Religious worship; 

                                        

“(iv) Participation in a recovery court, which includes drug courts under the Drug Court Treatment Act of 

2003, compiled in title 16, chapter 22; DUI courts; mental health courts; and veterans treatment courts; 

                                        

“(v) Serious illness of the person or an immediate family member; or 

                                        

“(vi) Other reasons or destinations as determined by the court. 

                                        

“(B) The offender seeking a hardship exception shall make application to the court in the form of a sworn 

affidavit stating with particularity the grounds and circumstances of hardship. For offenders identified in 

subdivisions (b)(3)(A)(i)-(iii), (v), and (vi), the court may enter a one-time stay for a period of no longer than 

one hundred eighty (180) days. For offenders identified in subdivision (b)(3)(A)(iv), the recovery court judge 

shall have discretion to determine the period of time the stay of revocation should remain in effect; provided, 

that period does not exceed the date of the offender's program completion or termination. The court clerk 

shall promptly notify the commissioner of safety of the issuance or termination of any stay of revocation. 

The commissioner of safety shall not revoke any license under this subsection (b) while the stay is in effect. 

                                        

“(4)(A) A person who is unable to pay all of the assessed litigation taxes, court costs, and fines but is able 

to pay some of them may apply to the court having original jurisdiction over the offense for an order setting 

up a payment plan for such taxes, costs, and fines. If the person and court agree to such a payment plan, 

the court shall so order and such order shall have the effect of staying the revocation of the license pursuant 

to this subsection (b). The order staying the revocation of license shall remain in effect for as long as the 

person is current and in compliance with the payment plan. If the person fails to make payments according 



to the plan for three (3) consecutive months without good cause, the court may revoke the order and notify 

the clerk. The court clerk shall promptly notify the commissioner of safety of the issuance or termination of 

any stay of revocation. The commissioner of safety shall not revoke pursuant to this subsection (b) while 

the stay is in effect. 

                                        

“(B) In addition to the ability to apply for the approval of a payment plan as provided in subdivision (b)(4)(A), 

a person who is indigent, as defined in § 40-14-201, may also apply for the waiver of any outstanding court 

costs and fines. A person who is indigent may apply for the waiver of outstanding court costs and fines prior 

to or after the revocation of license. An application for such a waiver must include: 

                                        

“(i) A signed affidavit of indigency; and 

                                        

“(ii) Payment of a fee of up to fifty dollars ($50.00), subject to the discretion of the court after consideration 

of the person's ability to pay. 

                                        

“(C) After consideration of the affidavit of indigency and the payment of any fee that may be required under 

this subdivision (b)(4), the court may waive any outstanding court costs and fines. 

                                        

“(5) The revocation provided in this subsection (b) is cumulative and does not limit or otherwise affect any 

license revocation pursuant to title 39, title 55, or any other law. 

                                        

“(6) Nothing in this subsection (b) shall be construed to apply to any license issued pursuant to title 55, 

chapter 17.”; and deleted (h), which read: “Notwithstanding this section to the contrary, if a person has a 

license revoked pursuant to this section, the person may apply to the trial court having original jurisdiction 

over the offense for a restricted driver license. The court is vested with the authority and discretion to order 

the issuance of a restricted driver license for the purposes specified in subdivision (b)(3)(A). The order shall 

state with all practicable specificity the necessary times and places of permissible operation of a motor 

vehicle. The person may obtain a certified copy of the order and within ten (10) days after issuance present 

the order, together with an application fee of sixty-five dollars ($65.00), to the department of safety, which 

shall issue a restricted license embodying the limitations imposed in the order. After proper application and 

until the restricted license is issued, a certified copy of the order may serve in lieu of a driver license. Any 

restricted license issued under this section shall be valid for a period not to exceed one (1) year. A restricted 

license issued under this section may be renewed; provided, that each renewal shall be valid for a period 

not to exceed one (1) year.”; and deleted former (h), which read: “Notwithstanding this section to the 

contrary, if a person has a license revoked pursuant to this section, the person may apply to the trial court 

having original jurisdiction over the offense for a restricted driver license. The court is vested with the 

authority and discretion to order the issuance of a restricted driver license for the purposes specified in 

subdivision (b)(3)(A). The order shall state with all practicable specificity the necessary times and places of 

permissible operation of a motor vehicle. The person may obtain a certified copy of the order and within ten 

(10) days after issuance present the order, together with an application fee of sixty-five dollars ($65.00), to 

the department of safety, which shall issue a restricted license embodying the limitations imposed in the 

order. After proper application and until the restricted license is issued, a certified copy of the order may 



serve in lieu of a driver license. Any restricted license issued under this section shall be valid for a period 

not to exceed one (1) year. A restricted license issued under this section may be renewed; provided, that 

each renewal shall be valid for a period not to exceed one (1) year.” 

                                                                                                                

The 2021 amendment by ch. 410 deleted “and paying the application fee to the department” preceding “in 

accordance with subdivision (b)(4)(B),” in (b)(3)(D); deleted “, together with an application fee of sixty-five 

dollars ($65.00),” following “order is issued, present it,” in (b)(4)(B); and deleted “, together with an 

application fee of sixty-five dollars ($65.00),” following “certification is issued, present it,” in (b)(5)(E).  

                                                                                                                

The 2021 amendment by ch. 413, in the last sentence of (a), inserted “in matters adjudicated on or after 

January 1, 2022”, substituted “a” for “any” following “the first moneys paid in” and inserted “the payment of 

restitution owed to the victim, if any, and once restitution has been paid in full, the next moneys shall be 

credited toward”.  

                                                                      

                                  

                                     

Effective Dates.  

                                                                            

Acts 2018, ch. 538 § 2. March 7, 2018. 

                                                                                                                

Acts 2018, ch. 579 § 2. March 16, 2018. 

                                                                                                                

Acts 2019, ch. 438, § 7. July 1, 2019. 

                                                                                                                

Acts 2021, ch. 410, § 25. July 1, 2021. 

                                                                                                                

Acts 2021, ch. 413, § 4. January 1, 2022. 

                                                                      

                               

Case Notes 
 
 

 1. Applicability of Civil Procedure Rules. 

 2. Interest. 



 3. Costs not Dischargeable in Bankruptcy. 

 4. Constitutional Issues. 

NOTES TO DECISIONS 

                                  

                                                                         

 1. Applicability of Civil Procedure Rules. 

                                     

                                                                                  

This section requires application of procedural rules applicable to money judgments in civil cases, though 

the fines were imposed in criminal cases.                                                 State v. Copeland, 647 S.W.2d 

241, 1983 Tenn. Crim. App. LEXIS 333 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1983)                                             . 

                                                                            

                                  

                                  

                                                                         

 2. Interest. 

                                     

                                                                                  

A criminal fine does not bear interest in the absence of a statute specifically authorizing it.                              

Owens v. State, 710 S.W.2d 518, 1986 Tenn. LEXIS 831 (Tenn. 1986)                                             . 

                                                                            

                                  

                                  

                                                                         

 3. Costs not Dischargeable in Bankruptcy. 

                                     

                                                                                  

Criminal court's assessment of costs against defendant, as a condition of probation, designed to 

compensate the state for its expenses in prosecuting the defendant rather than as a penal sanction, were 

not a dischargeable debt in bankruptcy proceedings.                                                 In re Hollis, 810 F.2d 

106, 1987 U.S. App. LEXIS 1372 (6th Cir. Tenn. 1987)                                             . 

                                                                            

                                  

                                  



                                                                         

 4. Constitutional Issues. 

                                     

                                                                                  

In an action challenging the constitutional validity of revoking the driver's license of an indigent person for 

failing to pay court debts, the court certified a class of all people whose driver's licenses had been or would 

be revoked under this statute and who, at the time of the revocation, could not pay court debt due to financial 

circumstances.                                                 Thomas v. Haslam, — F. Supp. 2d —, 2018 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 

60969 (M.D. Tenn. Mar. 26, 2018)                                             . 

                                                                                                                         

There was substantial reason to doubt that revoking the driver's license of an indigent person who failed to 

pay court debts from criminal cases was rationally related to the furtherance of debt collection; a motion to 

dismiss constitutional challenges was therefore denied. Under equal protection and due process principles, 

Tennessee cannot impose a greater sanction on a convicted person for failure to pay based solely on 

indigence.                                                 Thomas v. Haslam, — F. Supp. 2d —, 2018 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 

60969 (M.D. Tenn. Mar. 26, 2018)                                             . 

                                                                            

                                  

                               

Opinion Notes 
 
 

                                     

Attorney General Opinions. 

                                                                            

Payment allocation, where defendant indigent, only as to costs or fines,                                              OAG 

98-099 (5/27/98)                                          . 

                                                                                                                

Community service or work project in lieu of payment of court costs,                                              OAG 99-

233 (12/15/99)                                          . 

                                                                                                                

A criminal defendant may not have his probation revoked through a violation warrant for failing to pay costs 

assessed in a criminal action,                                              OAG 00-162 (10/18/00)                                          . 

                                                                                                                

Criminal defendant may not have his probation revoked through a violation warrant for failing to pay costs 

assessed in a criminal action,                                              OAG 03-106 (8/22/03)                                          . 



                                                                                                                

Under T.C.A.§ 40-24-105(c) (now (d)(1)), a district attorney general has the authority to enter into a 

contingency fee contract with a debt collection agency to recover fines and costs assessed in criminal 

cases,                                              OAG 05-118 (7/27/05)                                          . 

                                                                                                                

The board of probation and parole is authorized to condition parole on payment of fines but not criminal 

court costs,                                              OAG 06-062 (4/5/06)                                          . 

                                                                                                                

Collection of fines and court costs in general sessions criminal cases,                                              OAG 

06-135 (8/21/06)                                          . 

                                                                                                                

Payment of fines in installments; allocation of moneys paid into court.  OAG 12-52, 2012 Tenn. AG LEXIS 

52 (5/10/12). 

                                                                      

Research References & Practice Aids 
 

                                  

                                     

Cross-References.  

                                                                            

Application of cash deposit to judgment and costs, § 40-11-140. 

                                                                                                                

Collection from funds held by warden for prisoner, § 41-21-217. 

                                                                                                                

Collection of fines or costs in default,  § 20-12-144. 

                                                                                                                

Collection of funds on behalf of the state or local government, acceptance of checks, money orders, credit 

or debit cards,  § 9-1-108. 

                                                                                                                

Issuance of execution in civil cases, title 26, ch. 1. 

                                                                                                                

Judgment and execution for costs, § 40-25-134. 

                                                                                                                



Liability of state or county when execution returned unsatisfied, § 40-25-130. 

                                                                                                                

Recovery of fines imposed by ordinance, §§ 6-21-506, 6-54-303, 6-54-304. 

                                                                      

                                                                

                                     

Textbooks.  

                                                                            

Tennessee Criminal Practice and Procedure (Raybin), § 32.23. 

                                                                      

                                  

                                     

Law Reviews.  

                                                                            

The Abatement of Criminal Fines upon Death of Defendant: Punishment, Precedent, and Policy, 11 Mem. 

St. U.L. Rev. 67. 
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16-18-306. Fine for contempt of municipal court.  
 
 

Notwithstanding any law to the contrary, contempt of a municipal court shall be punishable by fine 

in the amount of fifty dollars ($50.00), or such lesser amount as may be imposed in the judge's 

discretion. 

History 
  

                                     
Acts 2004, ch. 914, § 2.                                  

Annotations 

Notes 
 

                                        

                                           

Compiler's Notes.  

                                                                                        

Former part 3, § 16-18-301 (Acts 1999, ch. 149, § 1), concerning administration of oaths by municipal court 

judges, was repealed and replaced by Acts 2004, ch. 914, § 2, effective March 1, 2005. 

                                                                                                                                  

Acts 2004, ch. 914, § 8(b) provided that, notwithstanding any provision of former§ 16-17-101(c), or any other 

law to the contrary, from May 12, 2003, through March 1, 2005, concurrent general sessions jurisdiction 

shall not be newly conferred upon any existing or newly created municipal court. 

                                                                                  

                                     

Opinion Notes 
 
 



                                           

Attorney General Opinions. 

                                                                                        

Authority of city court to punish an individual for contempt of court when the person fails to appear in court 

for an appointed court date.  OAG 11-17, 2011 Tenn. AG LEXIS 19 (2/15/11). 
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